
Hamilton County Board of County Commissioners

Commissioner Graham

AGENDA February 17, 2016

ROLL CALL

INVOCATION -

PLEDGE TO THE FLAG - Commissioner Graham

Presentation Medal of Honor Museum presentation by Major General (Ret.) Bill Raines  - Agenda Session
Only - February 10, 2016

Minutes Recessed Meeting - January 27, 2016

Minutes Agenda Session - January 27, 2016

Minutes Regular Meeting - February 3, 2016

Report Order of Designation Planning Commission - Todd Leamon February 8, 2016

Report Compliance with ThreeStar Program

Res. No. 216-16 A Resolution to approve and accept applications for notary public positions, the bonds and oaths
of notaries previously elected, the oaths of Deputy Sheriffs, and the oath of Deputy County
Trustee.

Res. No. 216-17A A Resolution Granting a Special Exceptions Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development
of properties located at 8830 Green Gap Road, 7623 Sweet Fern Drive and 7677 Peppertree
Drive.

Res. No. 216-17B A Resolution Granting a Special Exceptions Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development
of properties located at 8830 Green Gap Road, 7623 Sweet Fern Drive and 7677 Peppertree
Drive.

Res. No. 216-18 A Resolution confirming the appointment of one (1) member and the reappointment of two (2) 
members by the County Mayor to the Hamilton County Contractors Board of Appeals and 
Adjustments for terms ending January 4, 2020.

Res. No. 216-19 A Resolution to reappoint one (1) member to the Hamilton County Health and Safety Hearing
Board for a four (4) year term beginning February 15, 2016 and ending February 15, 2020.

Res. No. 216-20 A Resolution to confirm the appointment by the County Mayor of Donald Lee Norris as
Administrator of General Services.

Res. No. 216-21 A Resolution to establish a mandatory retirement age requirement pursuant to Tennessee Code
Annotated, section 8-36-205, to authorize the payment of the supplemental bridge benefit
pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, section 8-36-211, and to authorize group 1 members
who have creditable service in a group 1 position covered by such mandatory age retirement to
retire on service retirement benefits upon attainment of age fifty-five (55) with twenty-five (25)
years of creditable service pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, section 8-36-201(a)(2).

Res. No. 216-22 A Resolution approving the expenditure of twenty thousand dollars ($20,000.00) from General
Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District Two, to assist the Town of Signal Mountain with
community ball field improvements.

Res. No. 216-23 A Resolution making an appropriation to Partnership for Families, Children and Adults, Inc., in
the amount of One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as
allotted to District Nine.

Res. No. 216-24 A Resolution making an appropriation to Partnership for Families, Children and Adults, Inc., in
the amount of One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as
allotted to District Seven.

Res. No. 216-25 A Resolution making an appropriation to Want To Foundation, Inc., in the amount of two
thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted
to District Eight.



Res. No. 216-26 A Resolution approving the expenditure of up to Seven Thousand Two Hundred Dollars
($7,200.00) from discretionary bond funds (as allotted to District Five) to purchase an audio and
speaker system for the Brainerd High School gymnasium.

Res. No. 216-27 A Resolution making an appropriation to A Better Tomorrow in the amount of two thousand five
hundred dollars ($2,500.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District Five.

Res. No. 216-28 A Resolution making an appropriation to Mary Walker Historical and Educational Foundation,
Inc., in the amount of twenty six thousand dollars ($26,000.00) from General Fund discretionary
monies, as allotted to District Five.

Res. No. 216-29 A Resolution accepting the bid of Chattanooga Tractor & Equipment, Inc. for one (1) tractor with
boom mower amounting to $95,667.00 for the Highway Department and authorizing the County
Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 216-30 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor to submit a FastTrack Economic Development Fund
Grant application to the Tennessee Department of Economic and Community Development on
behalf of Yanfeng USA Automotive Trim Systems, Inc. in an amount not to exceed $1.25 million
to provide various building and equipment improvements at the company's new Hamilton County
location.

Res. No. 216-31 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor to submit a FastTrack Economic Development Fund
Grant application to the Tennessee Department of Economic and Community Development on
behalf of West Star Aviation, Inc. in an amount not to exceed $200,000 to provide various
improvements at the company's new hanger facility at the Chattanooga Metropolitan Airport.

Res. No. 216-32 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor to negotiate, enter into and execute a lease
agreement between Hamilton County, the City of Chattanooga and the Charles H. Coolidge
Medal of Honor Heritage Center for a portion of county and city owned property located in
Coolidge Park, to locate a Medal of Honor Heritage Center in Coolidge Park to further honor
Charles H. Coolidge as a Medal of Honor recipient and to act as a memorial by reflecting the
heritage of the Medal of Honor.

Res. No. 216-33 A Resolution accepting the bid of Pro SVL, Inc. for audio visual equipment amounting to
$96,233.12 for the Information Technology Services Department on behalf of the Sessions Court
and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 216-34 A Resolution approving the quotation of Technical Innovations for Professional
Computer/Software Consulting Services for design and field engineering and installation of audio
visual equipment amounting to $51,794.10 for the Information Technology Services Department
on behalf of the Sessions Court and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts
necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 216-35 A Resolution accepting the bid of Stafford-Smith, Inc. for three (3) prisoner tray transport/server
cabinets amounting to $15,591.00 for the Sheriff’s Office and authorizing the County Mayor to
sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 216-36 A Resolution accepting the bid of Bumpus Harley-Davidson of Murfreesboro for one (1) police
motorcycle amounting to $17,092.00 for the Sheriff’s Office and authorizing the County Mayor to
sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 216-37 A Resolution approving the purchase of flu vaccine from NOVARTIS, SANOFI-PASTEUR,
McKESSON MED-SURG MN Supply at Statewide contract pricing and, if necessary, other firms
at the lowest and best available pricing quote for the Health Department and authorizing the
County Mayor or to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 216-38 A Resolution accepting the bid of Outdoor Recreation, Inc. for contract unit pricing, beginning
February 17, 2016, through February 16, 2017, for personalized park benches for the Health
Services Division, operating as the Chattanooga / Hamilton County Health Department and
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 216-39 A Resolution accepting the bid of Hudson Construction Company for contract pricing, for one (1)
year with the option to renew for three (3) additional one (1) year terms,  for micro sealing and
resurfacing services for the Highway Department and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any
contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 216-40 A Resolution to authorize the County Mayor to enter into a contract with Woolpert, Inc. to provide
Hamilton County with Geographic Information System color and Color Infrared Digital
Orthophotography for Hamilton County at a cost of $86,100 and to amend the Hamilton County
Partnership budget by adding $57,400 to revenue  and $86,100  to expenditures.



Res. No. 216-41 A Resolution ratifying the purchase of gasoline and diesel fuel for the period of January 1, 2016,
through January 31, 2016, and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to
implement this Resolution.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

DELEGATIONS ON MATTERS OTHER THAN ZONING

Any invocation that may be offered before the official start of the Commission
meeting shall be the voluntary offering of a private citizen, to and for the
benefit of the Commission.  The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation
speaker have not been previously reviewed or approved by the Commission
and do not necessarily represent the religious beliefs or views of the
Commission in part or as a whole.  No member of the community is required to
attend or participate in the invocation and such decision will have no impact on
their right to actively participate in the business of the Commission.



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

JANUARY 27, 2016 
 

1 
 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Recessed Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  January 27, 2016 

 

 BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 27th day of January, 2016, a Recessed 

Meeting of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

 Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. Deputy 

County Clerk Brooke Weaver called the roll of the County Commission and the 

following, constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Boyd, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner 

Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Bankston. 

Total present – 9.  Total absent - 1. Commissioner Beck was absent. 

 

 Chairman Bankston indicated that Commissioner Beck would be arriving during 

today’s Agenda Session.  

 

 Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff and County Attorney Rheubin Taylor. 

 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

JANUARY 27, 2016 
 

2 
 

 Commissioner Haynes introduced Pastor Joey Harris, Harmony Baptist Church, 

who gave the invocation.  Commissioner Haynes led in the pledge to the flag. 

 

Chairman Bankston announced that there was not any scheduled business for 

the Recessed Meeting and asked if anyone had any announcements. 

 

 Being no further business Chairman Bankston declared the recessed meeting 

adjourned. 

 

 

      

     Respectfully submitted: 

 

 
      
     _______________________________ 
     William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

 

 

Approved: 

 

 
______ 
Date  Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JANUARY 27, 2016 
 
 

 1

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  January 27, 2016 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 27th day of January, 2016, an Agenda 

Preparation Session of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and 

held at the Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, 

when the following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. Deputy 

County Clerk Brooke Weaver called the roll of the County Commission and the 

following, constituting a quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Boyd, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner 

Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Bankston.  

Commissioner Beck arrived during discussion of Resolution No. 216-3. Total present - 

9.  Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff and County Attorney Rheubin Taylor. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JANUARY 27, 2016 
 
 

 2

COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 

 

Chairman Bankston indicated the upcoming agenda items would be considered 

as follows: 

 The Trustee’s Monthly and Excess Fee Reports for December 2015 would be 
submitted for the record. 

 The Juvenile Court Clerk’s Reports for October and November 2015 would be 
submitted for the record. 

 A Quarterly Investment Report for quarter ending December 2015 would be 
submitted for the record. 

 Quarterly Fee Office reports ending December 31, 2015 would be submitted for 
the record. 

 Resolution No. 216-1 was the usual County Clerk item regarding notaries, etc.  
This required no committee assignment. 

 Resolution Nos. 216-2 through 216-14 were heard by a Committee of the Whole. 
 

 

Chairman Bankston stated that Resolution Nos. 216-2 through 216-14 would now 

be heard by the Committee of the Whole. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 216-2 

 

Sam Mairs, Juvenile Court Administrator, spoke regarding this item, which 

decreases the expenditure budget for the Juvenile Court Judge by $32,369.00, and 

increase the expenditure budget for the Sheriff by $32,369.00. In response to 

Commissioner Graham’s request, Mr. Mairs approached the podium and further 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JANUARY 27, 2016 
 
 

 3

explained that the funds will be used to fund a position for a deputy from the Sheriff’s 

office, for security at the Juvenile Court.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 216-3 

 

Christie Jordan, Accounting and Budgeting Director for the Hamilton County 

Department of Education spoke regarding this item, which amends the Schools Federal 

Projects Fund budget by adding $2,969,406 to the FY 2015-2016 revenue and 

expenditure budget; to amend the Self-funded Projects Fund budget by adding 

$683,027 to the FY 2015-2016 revenue and expenditure budget; to amend the General 

Purpose Fund budget by adding $2,634,810 to the FY 2015-2016 revenue and 

expenditure budget.   

 

In response to several questions from Commissioners, she further explained that 

this was a standard resolution from the school system each year when monies come 

into the system. The additional revenue received in the General Purpose Fund budget 

came from an increase in Basic Education Program (BEP) funds and Sales Tax. The 

additional revenue received in the Schools Federal Projects Fund budget was federal 

grant monies, which are awarded, based on the federal government’s fiscal year 

October 1 through September 30.  

  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JANUARY 27, 2016 
 
 

 4

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 216-4 

  

 Commissioner Bankston spoke regarding this item, which makes an 

appropriation to Birchwood Regional Centre in the amount of $5,900.00 from General 

Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District Nine. He noted the funds will assist 

with the purchase of office supplies.  

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 216-5 

  

Commissioner Fairbanks spoke regarding this item, which makes an 

appropriation to Soddy Daisy Vietnam Veterans Foundation in the amount of $500.00 

from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District One. He noted the funds 

will assist with the purchase of a bugle. 

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JANUARY 27, 2016 
 
 

 5

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 216-6 

 

Commissioner Smedley spoke regarding this item, which makes an appropriation 

to Collegedale Tomorrow Foundation, Inc. in the amount of $10,000.00 from General 

Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District Seven. She noted the funds will assist 

with the Collegedale Commons project.  

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 216-7 

  

 Commissioner Mackey spoke regarding this item, which makes an appropriation 

to Front Porch Alliance in the amount of $5,000.00 from General Fund discretionary 

monies, as allotted to District Four. He noted the funds will assist with youth 

programming. 

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JANUARY 27, 2016 
 
 

 6

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 216-8 

 

Commissioner Mackey spoke regarding this item, which makes an appropriation 

to A Night to Remember, Inc. in the amount of $3,000.00 from General Fund 

discretionary monies, as allotted to District Four. He noted the funds will assist with the 

organization’s scholarship fund. 

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 216-9 

 

Commissioner Boyd spoke regarding this item, which makes an appropriation to 

Partnership for Families, Children and Adults, Inc., in the amount of $2,500.00 from 

General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District Eight. He noted the funds will 

assist with the Deaf Services program. 

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JANUARY 27, 2016 
 
 

 7

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 216-10 

 

Gail Roppo spoke regarding this item, which accepts a bid of Southeastern 

Communications Services, Inc. for installation, termination, testing, programming and 

certification of a Bogen Quantum Intercom System at Ganns Middle Valley Elementary 

School amounting to $30,194.45 for the Telecommunications Department. She noted 

that there were 583 notifications and 1 response. She stated the lack of response was 

due to the bid requiring an experienced, reputable Bogen certified contractor. 

 

 In order to qualify for the manufacturer’s warranty on the complete installation 

project, the contractor and all technicians performing the installation must be trained 

and certified, or scheduled to be trained and certified, by Bogen prior to award of 

contract. At the request of Hamilton County government, Bogen Quantum System is in 

the process of conducting a training program for vendors to increase future bid 

participation.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 216-11 

 

Alecia Poe, Human Resources Administrator spoke regarding this item, which 

accepts the proposal of CIGNA Health and Life Insurance Company to provide Group 

Health Plan Administration for Hamilton County. She noted that there were 5 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JANUARY 27, 2016 
 
 

 8

notifications and 2 responses; Blue Cross Blue Shield of Tennessee (BCBS) was the 

second response. She gave a side-by-side comparison of both proposals. BCBS did 

have savings in some areas but CIGNA gave a better overall savings of $420,701.00.  

 

Commissioner Graham thanked both companies for participating in the bid and 

Mrs. Poe for her great explanation. He noted the importance of the decision and stated 

his support for CIGNA.  

 

In response to Commissioner Fields question, Mrs. Poe stated that CIGNA has 

done a great job administering the county’s self-funded health insurance plan. All 

savings that were projected by CIGNA five years ago have been realized by the county.  

 

Commissioner Boyd thanked Mrs. Poe for her due diligence in explaining the two 

proposals. He quoted a recent Times Free Press news article in the Region Section 

published Sunday, January 24th. He stated the article was misleading and asked Mrs. 

Poe to clear up any possible confusion for the record.  

 

Mrs. Poe reiterated that BCBS did have savings in some areas but CIGNA gave 

a better overall savings of $420,701.00 and CIGNA’s proposal was also less disruptive 

to employees. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JANUARY 27, 2016 
 
 

 9

Mayor Coppinger gave praise to the staff for their hard work and thanked Russ 

Blakely and Associates for their consulting services.  He also acknowledged that 

representatives from CIGNA were present in the audience and thanked them for 

participating in the bid process. Both proposals were very aggressive and he thanked 

each company for their time.  

 

In response to Commissioner Fairbanks question, Mrs. Poe stated that overall 

feedback from employees have been overall positive. The majority of complaints are 

specific to the management of high tech imaging claims. She did point out that BCBS 

uses the same management as CIGNA.  

 

Mayor Coppinger reminded everyone that the county’s health insurance is a    

self-funded plan. CIGNA is simply administering the county’s plan. The county is 

adamant about staying within the plan, making no exceptions. If the county wants to 

change the plan and add additional coverage it will cost more. He also pointed out that 

BCBS and CIGNA use the same company for pre-certifications. 

 

It was also noted that pre-certification guidelines are put in place by the American 

Medical Association (AMA) and additional recommendations are given with each denial, 

which may be physical therapy, and/or additional imaging.  When there are unusual 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JANUARY 27, 2016 
 
 

 10

circumstances and a precertification has been denied by the insurance company, a 

peer-to-peer review could help with the approval process.    

 

In response to Commissioner Haynes’ comments, Mrs. Poe confirmed that due 

to the Affordable Health Care Act’s limits the county will no longer be able to offer the 

same package they offered in 2011.  

 

Chairman Bankston stated the representatives from Russ Blakely and Associates 

and CIGNA did not have to attend next week’s meeting. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 216-12 

 

 Bill Stoll, Hamilton County Risk Management Manger spoke regarding this item 

which accepts the proposal of BB&T/Huffaker Insurance to provide umbrella liability 

insurance coverage for Hamilton County. He noted this was renewal of existing 

coverage that was put in place back in 2001. He noted that policy limits were increased 

to 2 million per occurrence with a 4 million aggregate. The annual premium for the 

increased coverage is $158,248.00 per year.  

 

 

  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JANUARY 27, 2016 
 
 

 11

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 216-13 

 

Commissioner Boyd spoke regarding this item which amends the 2004 Interlocal 

Agreement between Hamilton County and the Hamilton County Board of Education 

relative to the construction of school facilities, authorizes the presentation of said 

amended agreement to the Hamilton County Board of Education for consideration for 

and approval and authorizes the County Mayor to execute said amended agreement 

when and if, so approved. He noted that the current local agreement (Resolution No. 

504-17) was adopted May 5, 2004 and a review was needed.  

 

County Attorney Rheubin Taylor noted that the state gives the Board of 

Education all authority regarding the construction and maintenance of schools. He 

referenced a packet the commission and the clerk’s office received explaining the 

proposed changes.  It was noted that the packet was not attached to Resolution No. 

216-13.  

 

Commissioner Boyd spoke about each amendment (1) No. 6, Section D, of the 

proposed agreement was added to identify and create a Selection Committee to be 

made up of four members: County Mayor, the Hamilton County Department of 

Education Superintendent, and the proposed projects School Board member and 

County Commissioner. This allows additional input on the final selection of architects 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JANUARY 27, 2016 
 
 

 12

and/or engineers. (2) Additional language added to allow the Review Committee to 

select and recommend a maximum of three firms who are properly qualified to perform 

the work. (3) The list of recommendations will then be forwarded to the Selection 

Committee for consideration. (4) Upon receipt of the list of recommended firm(s) from 

the Review Committee, the Selection Committee will meet and select (or confirm) one 

firm as their recommendation on who should perform the work on each project.  

 

Attorney Taylor stated that if Resolution No. 216-13 is adopted the next step will 

be to present said agreement to the School Board for approval. After reviewing the 

amended agreement, the School Board may counter offer, deny or accept. The 

amended agreement is not official until all parties involved have agreed. 

 

Commissioner Mackey questioned if former District 8 Commissioner Curtis 

Adams initiated the East Ridge Elementary School Project or did the Hamilton County 

Board of Education. For further clarification, he asked the Clerk’s office to research his 

question.  He noted that the proposed Selection Committee has an even number of 

members; he recommended adding a fifth member. 

  

In attempt to clarify Commissioner Mackey’s question, Chairman Bankston, 

former Chairman of the School Board’s Facilities Committee, stated that he presented a 

list of five school projects, which included East Ridge Elementary, to the Facilities 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JANUARY 27, 2016 
 
 

 13

Committee and all five were approved. The School Board then made recommendations 

to the County Commission. All five schools were also approved by the County 

Commission.  

 

 Commissioner Haynes called upon the Clerk’s office to research whether the 

2004 Interlocal agreement with the School Board was initiated by the School Board or 

the County Commission.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Haynes question, County Mayor Coppinger stated 

he was the only person who could sign bonds for the county. In addition he made 

several comments regarding Commissioner Boyd’s proposed amendment. He noted 

that the current process for selection of architects provides all the necessary checks 

and balances for county government. He further stated that amending the current 

process and adding a Selection Committee in addition to the current Review 

Committee, would be counter intuitive.  It doesn’t make sense to have a member from 

the commission on the final Selection Committee, and have the body of the County 

Commission give final approval.  The proposed amendment has the county commission 

involved in the entire process.  

 

  Mayor Coppinger and Commissioner Haynes spoke highly about the county’s 

current state of transparency. Commissioner Haynes spoke about the transparent 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JANUARY 27, 2016 
 
 

 14

review process of recent projects, including the new Ganns Middle Valley Elementary 

school, in his district.  

 

 Commissioner Graham noted that the County Commission has the final say as to 

whether the proposed school project is funded or not.  

 

 Commissioner Smedley encouraged the commission to make their decision on a 

district by district basis.  

  

 Commissioner Mackey noted the excess classroom space that is not being used 

in his district. He recommended the school system reconfigure their boundaries and fill 

the existing empty space. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE  – RESOLUTION NO. 216-14 

 

In response to Chairman Bankston’s suggestion, Commissioner Boyd, Chairman 

of the Finance Committee, proceeded with hearing this item in Committee of the Whole.  

 

Becky Barnes, Health Services Administrator spoke regarding this item which 

authorizes the County Mayor on behalf of Hamilton County, Tennessee, the Health 

Services Division, operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department to 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JANUARY 27, 2016 
 
 

 15

sign a contract amendment with the Tennessee Department of Health to provide Family 

Planning Services to residents of Hamilton County and increase the expense and 

revenue budget by $18,400.00. She noted the State of Tennessee is providing the 

money and this resolution simply accepts the funds. 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for announcements from members of the 

Commission.  

 

Several Commissioners and Mayor Coppinger gave their condolences to 

Commissioner Graham and his family regarding the recent passing of his wife’s 

grandmother.  

 

Commissioner Mackey reported that the Chattanooga Central Pounders 

basketball team won Tuesday’s home conference game against Hixson by a score of 

81-41.  

 

Commissioner Graham thanked everyone for their condolences and spoke highly 

of his wife’s grandmother. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JANUARY 27, 2016 
 
 

 16

Commissioner Boyd invited everyone to attend a community meeting regarding 

the Hamilton County Water and Wastewater Treatment Authority (WWTA) at the East 

Ridge Community Center, February 9th at 6:30 pm.  

 

Mayor Coppinger expressed get well wishes to Louis Prosterman, Hamilton 

County Development Supervisor.  

 

Mayor Coppinger spoke about recent workshops and thanked the commission for 

their participation and attendance. In attempt to continue to keep everyone informed, he 

noted that additional workshops will be held as needed.  

 

In response to Chairman Bankston’s requested, Mrs. Jordan reported that the 

School Board voted to have a real estate agency list the old East Brainerd Elementary 

property. 

 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There 

were none. 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

JANUARY 27, 2016 
 
 

 17

 

Being no further business, Chairman Bankston declared the meeting adjourned 

until Wednesday, February 3rd at 9:30 AM. 

 

 

 

 

Respectfully submitted: 

      

      _________________________________   
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved: 

           

__________   
Date      Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
FEBRUARY 3, 2016 

 

1 

 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Regular Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  February 3, 2016 
 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 3rd day of February, 2016, a Regular Meeting 

of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, 

Commissioner Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman 

Bankston. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

Attached hereto is a copy of the Public Notice of this meeting, which was 

published in a local newspaper and made a matter of record of this meeting. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
FEBRUARY 3, 2016 

 

2 

 

Commissioner Graham introduced Pastor Mike Steele Crossroads Baptist 

Church, who gave the invocation. Commissioner Graham led in the pledge to the flag.  

 

PRESENTATION – CERTIFICATE OF APPRECIATION - SODDY DAISY HIGH 

SCHOOL JROTC CADETS 

  

Commissioner Fairbanks presented a Certificate of Appreciation to Ryan 

DesJarlais, Trevor Henegar, and Zachary Shankles. Each cadet was honored for their 

quick reaction and bravery for saving a fellow cadet from drowning when his foot 

became entrapped under a rock and he was unable to extricate himself. Soddy Daisy 

Mayor Rick Nunley was also present for the presentation. 

 

Soddy Daisy High School JROTC Senior Army Instruction Major Eric Redlin, 

read a brief excerpt from the Award Recommendation he sent to the Director of Army 

Instruction regarding the cadets’ heroism.  

 

At this time Mayor Coppinger and Commission members shook hands with each 

cadet.   

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
FEBRUARY 3, 2016 

 

3 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, that the 

minutes of the Recessed Meeting of January 13, 2016, the Agenda Preparation Session 

of January 13, 2016, and the Regular Meeting of January 20, 2016, be approved, treat 

same as read, made a matter of record and filed. The foregoing Motion was 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total 

present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

TRUSTEE REPORTS 

  

The Trustee’s Monthly and Excess Fee reports for December 2015 were 

submitted and made a matter of record. 

 

JUVENILE COURT CLERK’S REPORTS 

  

The Juvenile Court Clerk’s reports for October and November 2015 were 

submitted and made a matter of record. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
FEBRUARY 3, 2016 

 

4 

 

 

QUARTERLY INVESTMENT REPORT 

  

The quarterly investment report of Hamilton County Government, for the quarter 

ending December 31, 2015 was submitted as a matter of record. 

 

FEE OFFICE REPORTS 

  

Fee reports for the following constitutional officers were submitted and made a 

matter or record: 

 

Clerk and Master – October 2015 through December 2015 
Circuit Court Clerk – October 2015 through December 2015 
Register of Deeds – October 2015 through December 2015 
County Clerk - October 2015 through December 2015 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 216-1  A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT 

APPLICATIONS FOR NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 

NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, AND OATHS OF DEPUTY SHERIFFS. 

 
 
 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution No. 216-1. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
FEBRUARY 3, 2016 

 

5 

 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 
 

Chairman Bankston reported that Resolution Nos. 216-2 through 216-14 were 

heard by a Committee of the Whole.  

 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 216-2  A RESOLUTION TO DECREASE THE EXPENDITURE 

BUDGET FOR THE JUVENILE COURT JUDGE BY $32,369.00, AND INCREASE 

THE EXPENDITURE BUDGET FOR THE SHERIFF BY $32,369.00. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 216-2. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
FEBRUARY 3, 2016 

 

6 

 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 216-3  A RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE SCHOOLS FEDERAL 

PROJECTS FUND BUDGET BY ADDING $2,969,406 TO THE FY 2015-2016 

REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE BUDGET; TO AMEND THE SELF-FUNDED 

PROJECTS FUND BUDGET BY ADDING $683,027 TO THE FY 2015-2016 REVENUE 

AND EXPENDITURE BUDGET; TO AMEND THE GENERAL PURPOSE FUND 

BUDGET BY ADDING $2,634,810 TO THE FY 2015-2016 REVENUE AND 

EXPENDITURE BUDGET. 

 
ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 216-3. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 
 
 
 
 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
FEBRUARY 3, 2016 

 

7 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 216-4  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

BIRCHWOOD REGIONAL CENTRE IN THE AMOUNT OF FIVE THOUSAND NINE 

HUNDRED DOLLARS ($5,900.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY 

MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT NINE. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fairbanks, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, 

to adopt Resolution No. 216-4. The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call 

vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting 

as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, 

“Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

Commissioner Graham announced he was present. 

 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 216-5  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

SODDY DAISY VIETNAM VETERANS FOUNDATION IN THE AMOUNT OF FIVE 

HUNDRED DOLLARS ($500) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, 

AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT ONE. 

 
 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fairbanks, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, 

to adopt Resolution No. 216-5. The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
FEBRUARY 3, 2016 

 

8 

 

vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting 

as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, 

“Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

Commissioner Graham announced he was present. 

 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 216-6  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

COLLEGEDALE TOMORROW FOUNDATION, INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF TEN 

THOUSAND DOLLARS ($10,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY 

MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT SEVEN. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Smedley, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution No. 216-6. The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call vote, 

with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as 

follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, 

“Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

Commissioner Graham announced he was present. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
FEBRUARY 3, 2016 

 

9 

 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 216-7  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

FRONT PORCH ALLIANCE IN THE AMOUNT OF FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS 

($5,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO 

DISTRICT FOUR. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 216-8  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO A 

NIGHT TO REMEMBER, INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF THREE THOUSAND DOLLARS 

($3,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO 

DISTRICT FOUR. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Mackey, seconded by Commissioner Fairbanks, 

to adopt Resolution Nos. 216-7 and 216-8. The foregoing Resolutions were adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. Commissioner Graham announced he was present. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 216-9  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

PARTNERSHIP FOR FAMILIES, CHILDREN AND ADULTS, INC., IN THE AMOUNT 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
FEBRUARY 3, 2016 

 

10 

 

OF TWO THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($2,500.00) FROM GENERAL 

FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT EIGHT. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, to 

adopt Resolution No. 216-9. The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call vote, 

with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as 

follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, 

“Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

Commissioner Graham announced he was present. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 216-10  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF 

SOUTHEASTERN COMMUNICATIONS SERVICES, INC. FOR INSTALLATION, 

TERMINATION, TESTING, PROGRAMMING AND CERTIFICATION OF A BOGEN 

QUANTUM INTERCOM SYSTEM AT GANNS MIDDLE VALLEY ELEMENTARY 

SCHOOL AMOUNTING TO $30,194.45 FOR THE TELECOMMUNICATIONS 

DEPARTMENT AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Haynes, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution No. 216-10. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
FEBRUARY 3, 2016 

 

11 

 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 216-11  A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT THE PROPOSAL OF 

CIGNA HEALTH AND LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY TO PROVIDE GROUP HEALTH 

PLAN ADMINISTRATION FOR HAMILTON COUNTY AND TO AUTHORIZE THE 

COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 

RESOLUTION. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 216-11. The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call 

vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting 

as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, “Nay”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, 

“Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” 

votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 1. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
FEBRUARY 3, 2016 

 

12 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 216-12  A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT THE PROPOSAL OF 

BB&T/HUFFAKER INSURANCE TO PROVIDE UMBRELLA LIABILITY INSURANCE 

COVERAGE FOR HAMILTON COUNTY AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY 

MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 

RESOLUTION. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 216-12. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 216-13  A RESOLUTION AMENDING THE 2004 INTERLOCAL 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN HAMILTON COUNTY AND THE HAMILTON COUNTY 

BOARD OF EDUCATION RELATIVE TO THE CONSTRUCTION OF SCHOOL 

FACILITIES; AUTHORIZING THE PRESENTATION OF SAID AMENDED 

AGREEMENT TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION FOR 

CONSIDERATION FOR AND APPROVAL; AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
FEBRUARY 3, 2016 

 

13 

 

MAYOR TO EXECUTE SAID AMENDED AGREEMENT WHEN, AND IF, SO 

APPROVED.  

 

 Chairman Bankston stated that this Resolution was pulled from the agenda 

following last week’s Agenda Session. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 216-14  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES 

DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH 

DEPARTMENT TO SIGN A CONTRACT AMENDMENT WITH THE TENNESSEE 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH TO PROVIDE FAMILY PLANNING SERVICES TO 

RESIDENTS OF HAMILTON COUNTY AND INCREASE THE EXPENSE AND 

REVENUE BUDGET BY $18,400.00. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

adopt Resolution No. 216-14. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
FEBRUARY 3, 2016 

 

14 

 

 

LATE ITEM - 

RESOLUTION NO. 216-15 A RESOLUTION ENDORSING THE PROPOSAL TO 

NAME A UNITED STATES NAVAL SHIP “THE USS CHATTANOOGA” IN HONOR 

OF THE HEROIC EFFORTS OF THOSE INVOLVED IN THE CHATTANOOGA 

INCIDENT OF JULY 16, 2015.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution No. 216-15.  

 

 Commissioner Graham thanked the commission for their support and spoke 

regarding this item. He noted that the State Legislature is asking the Federal 

Government to name the next United States Navy ship “ The USS Chattanooga” in 

honor of the heroism shown by so many during the July 16, 2015 Chattanooga terrorist 

attacks. 

 

The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Nay”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
FEBRUARY 3, 2016 

 

15 

 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  

Total “Nay” votes – 1. 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

  

Chairman Bankston asked for announcements from members of the 

Commission. 

 

Commissioner Mackey reported that the Chattanooga Central Pounders 

basketball team won Tuesday’s game against Red Bank High School by a score of 64 – 

61. He encouraged everyone to attend UTC’s Men’s Basketball home game against 

Wofford College, tomorrow night at 7:30 pm. 

 

 

Commissioner Graham invited everyone to attend a Lookout Valley 

Neighborhood Association community Judicial and Assessor forum meeting at the John 

A. Patten Center, Thursday, February 4th at 7 pm.  He also gave praise to the Mayor 

and his staff for their hard work and due diligence in explaining the health insurance 

proposals.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
FEBRUARY 3, 2016 

 

16 

 

Commissioner Boyd invited everyone to attend a community meeting regarding 

the Hamilton County Water and Wastewater Treatment Authority (WWTA) at the East 

Ridge Community Center, Tuesday, February 9th at 6:30 pm. 

 

Commissioner Fairbanks thanked his fellow commissioners, Mayor Coppinger, 

Attorney Taylor, and Soddy Daisy Mayor Nunley for helping him honor JROTC cadets. 

He also spoke regarding his no vote for Resolution No. 216-11. He also congratulated 

Soddy Daisy High School Cheerleading Team on their recent National Championship 

victory. 

 

Commissioner Fairbanks acknowledged CIGNA was low bid and thanked the 

Mayor and his staff for their thorough presentation to Commissioners. He explained that 

his nay vote resulted from several upset employees contacting him during the past year 

with health insurance coverage concerns. He also added that his family has a year old 

unresolved issue regarding coverage. He encouraged discussion about what the 

county’s health insurance plan doesn’t cover and what would it cost the county to 

improve coverage. 

 

Commissioner Smedley thanked the Mayor for attending and speaking at 

Monday’s Stop Bullying Assembly at East Hamilton Middle High School. Paul Coughlin, 

an anti-bullying expert, spoke to the students about how they should handle bullying 

and hazing incidents. She also asked the commission to take bullying and hazing 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
FEBRUARY 3, 2016 

 

17 

 

conversations seriously and enforce strict policies against it. She invited everyone to 

attend a Community Meeting, Thursday February 18th, 6:30 pm – 8:00 pm; location of 

meeting will be announced later. State representatives will be present at the meeting 

giving updates on issues they are dealing with now at the state level.  

 

Commissioner Beck asked for an update regarding the Hamilton County 

Department of Education’s (HCDE) spending plans. Chairman Bankston stated that he 

sent a request for the information to HCDE three weeks ago. He reported that he has 

yet to receive a response from the School System. Commissioner Beck reported that he 

will be suspending his vote on the upcoming budget until an answer is received. 

  

Attorney Taylor requested that Commissioners and the Mayor meet with him in 

the adjacent conference room following today’s regular meeting for a brief legal meeting 

on a threatened litigation matter. 

 

Mayor Coppinger thanked Soddy Daisy Mayor Nunley for attending today’s 

meeting. He also reported that Louis Prosterman, Hamilton County Development 

Supervisor, passed away this past Friday, January 29th. He asked that his family be 

kept in everyone’s thoughts and prayers. Memorial services will be held at noon 

Thursday, Feb. 4th at the Unitarian Universalist Church of Chattanooga.  

Commissioner Mackey spoke regarding the School Board’s delayed response, 

he noted that the Chattanooga Area Chamber of Commerce recently reported that there 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
FEBRUARY 3, 2016 

 

18 

 

are 15,000 well paying jobs and Chattanooga business leaders cannot recruit qualified 

local candidates. He stressed the importance of the School Board having a spending 

plan in place. He noted he will have difficulty voting on the upcoming budget without 

knowing the School Board’s future spending plans.   

 

Chairman Bankston also congratulated the Chattanooga Central Pounders 

basketball team on their recent victories. He also congratulated Ooltewah High School 

Red Hot Dance Team on their recent State Championship victory. 

 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There 

were none. 

  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
FEBRUARY 3, 2016 

 

19 

 

 

 

There being no further business, Chairman Bankston declared the meeting in 

recess until Wednesday, February 10th at 9:30 AM. 

       

 

Respectfully submitted: 

 

 

      _____________________________________ 
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
Approved: 
 
   

________  
Date  Clerk’s Initials 
 

        

 

 

 

 































No. 216-16 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
  A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT APPLICATIONS FOR 

NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 
NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, THE OATHS OF DEPUTY 
SHERIFFS, AND THE OATH OF DEPUTY COUNTY TRUSTEE. 

   
 
WHEREAS, William F. (Bill) Knowles, Hamilton County Clerk, has certified according to the 

records of his office that the persons named on the attached listing labeled 
“HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” have duly 
applied for the positions so sought; and 

 
WHEREAS,  said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE 
OF THE COUNTY CLERK” have given approved bonds for the office of 
Notary Public and have taken the oath of office; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled “OATHS OF DEPUTY 
SHERIFFS” have taken the oath of office. 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

person named on the attached listing labeled “THE OATH OF DEPUTY 
COUNTY TRUSTEE” has taken the oath of office; and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS: 
 

1. That the persons named on the listing labeled “HAMILTON COUNTY 
NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” are hereby approved as applicants to be 
submitted to the Secretary of State; and 

 



 

 

2.  That the persons listed on the “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE OF THE 
 COUNTY CLERK” relative to bonds given for the position of Notary Public are 
 hereby approved for such and the bonds are accepted and the oaths therefor are 
 approved as taken; and 
 

3. That the persons named on the listing labeled “OATHS OF DEPUTY 
SHERIFFS” are accepted and the oaths therefor are approved as taken; and  

 
4. That the person named on the listing labeled “THE OATH OF DEPUTY 

TRUSTEE” is accepted and the oath therefore is approved as taken; and 
 
 5. That each such person named on any listing hereinabove mentioned (which listing 

is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference) is hereby deemed to have 
been individually considered according to the particular matter relating thereto. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 







































No. 216-17A 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                  P.C. NO. 2016-007) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL 
EXCEPTIONS PERMIT FOR A RESIDENTIAL 

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT OF 
PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 8830 GREEN GAP 
ROAD, 7623 SWEET FERN DRIVE AND 7677 

PEPPERTREE DRIVE 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Jay W. Bell & Fatherson Partnership Two petitioned the 
Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission to grant a Special 
Exceptions Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development of properties located 
at 8830 Green Gap Road, 7623 Sweet Fern Drive and 7677 Peppertree Drive, and 
said Planning Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be approved; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, Jay W. Bell & Fatherson Partnership Two requested that the 
County Commission consider said petition and notice has been published in a 
newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton County that the County Commission will 
hold a public hearing on February 17, 2016, concerning the passage of this 
Resolution as required by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE 
BODY IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County 
be amended to grant a Special Exceptions Permit for a Residential Planned Unit 
Development of properties located at 8830 Green Gap Road, 7623 Sweet Fern Drive 
and 7677 Peppertree Drive.  An unplatted tract of land located at 8830 Green Gap 
Road and Lots 277 and 278 McKenzie Farm Revised Phase 1, Plat Book 92, Page 
151, ROHC, being part of the property described in Deed Book 9531, Page 617 and 



 

 

Part of Tract 4, Deed Book 8950, Page 126, ROHC.  Tax Map 114-084 (part), 114G-
D-05 and 114G-C-011 as shown on the attached map.   
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 



























No. 216-17B 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                 (P.C. NO. 2016-007) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL 
EXCEPTIONS PERMIT FOR A RESIDENTIAL 

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT OF 
PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 8830 GREEN GAP 
ROAD, 7623 SWEET FERN DRIVE AND 7677 

PEPPERTREE DRIVE 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Jay W. Bell & Fatherson Partnership Two petitioned the 
Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission to grant a Special 
Exceptions Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development of properties located 
at 8830 Green Gap Road, 7623 Sweet Fern Drive and 7677 Peppertree Drive, and 
said Planning Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be approved; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, Jay W. Bell & Fatherson Partnership Two requested that the 
County Commission consider said petition and notice has been published in a 
newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton County that the County Commission will 
hold a public hearing on February 17, 2016, concerning the passage of this 
Resolution as required by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE 
BODY IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County 
be amended, subject to Peppertree Drive being for emergency access only, to 
grant a Special Exceptions Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development of 
properties located at 8830 Green Gap Road, 7623 Sweet Fern Drive and 7677 
Peppertree Drive.  An unplatted tract of land located at 8830 Green Gap Road and 
Lots 277 and 278 McKenzie Farm Revised Phase 1, Plat Book 92, Page 151, ROHC, 



 

 

being part of the property described in Deed Book 9531, Page 617 and Part of Tract 
4, Deed Book 8950, Page 126, ROHC.  Tax Map 114-084 (part), 114G-D-05 and 
114G-C-011 as shown on the attached map.   
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 



























No. 216-18 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION CONFIRMING THE APPOINTMENT OF ONE (1) MEMBER AND THE 
REAPPOINTMENT OF TWO (2) MEMBERS BY THE COUNTY MAYOR TO THE 
HAMILTION COUNTY CONTRACTORS BOARD OF APPEALS AND ADJUSTMENTS 
FOR TERMS ENDING JANUARY 4, 2020. 
 
WHEREAS,  pursuant to Resolution No. 1088-39, as amended by Resolution 696-7 members 

of the Hamilton County Contractors Board of Appeals and Adjustments are 
appointed by the County Mayor and confirmed by the Board of County 
Commissioners; and,  

 
WHEREAS, the County Mayor has appointed Craig Peavy (Architect) to a four (4) year term 

beginning February17, 2016  and ending  January 4, 2020; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the County Mayor has reappointed Randy Metcalf (Engineer) and Ernest Noll, 

Jr. (Plumbing Industry) to four (4) year terms beginning February 17, 2016 and 
January 4, 2020. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the appointment of Craig Peavy (Architect) and the reappointment of Randy Metcalf 
(Engineer) and Ernest Noll, Jr. (Plumbing Industry) to the Hamilton County Contractors Board 
of Appeals and Adjustments are hereby confirmed for terms as noted above. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 









No. 216-19 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO REAPPOINT ONE (1) MEMBER TO THE HAMILTON 
COUNTY HEALTH AND SAFETY HEARING BOARD FOR A FOUR (4) YEAR 
TERM BEGINNING FEBRUARY 15, 2016 AND ENDING FEBRUARY 15, 2020. 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to T.C.A., Section 39-1-115 and 5-1-222 and Hamilton County 

Resolution No. 599-14, certain members of the Hamilton County Health 
and Safety Hearing Board are appointed by the County Mayor and 
confirmed by the Board of County Commissioners; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the County Mayor has reappointed Ann Badgley to a term of four (4) 

years, beginning February 15, 2016 and ending February 15, 2020;  
 
 
NOW THERFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the reappointment of Ann Badgley to the Hamilton County Health and Safety Hearing 
Board is hereby confirmed for the term as noted above. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 





No. 216-20 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO CONFIRM THE APPOINTMENT BY THE COUNTY MAYOR OF 
DONALD LEE NORRIS AS ADMINISTRATOR OF GENERAL SERVICES. 
 
WHEREAS, Don Allen retired as Administrator of General Services effective February 16, 

2016 and created a vacancy in the Hamilton County General Services 
Department; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  the County Mayor has appointed Donald Lee Norris as Administrator of 

General Services, effective February 22, 2016, at Salary Range 92, with an 
annual salary of $115,880.00. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the appointment of Donald Lee Norris as Administrator of General Services is hereby 
confirmed for a salary as stated above and becoming effective February 22, 2016. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 
  

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 



 
DONALD L. (LEE) NORRIS 
 
2226 Hollywood Lane (423) 886-9298 
Signal Mountain, TN 37377 (423) 421-5138 
 
Experience 2012-Present 
 Administrator, Public Works 
 Chattanooga, TN 
  
 Lead the personnel and operations of four (4) divisions 

within the public works department with a budget in excess 
of $100 million dollars.  Established the mission, vision, 
and goals of the department to successfully provide 
efficient, fast, and cost effective services the residents of 
the City. 

 
2005-2012 

 Deputy Administrator of Public Works 
 Chattanooga, TN 
 
 Manage the day-to-day operation of five (5) divisions 

within the public works department including:  
 City Wide Services, Engineering/Storm Water 

Management, Land Development Office (Building 
Permits), Traffic Engineering and Waste Resources 
Division (Sanitary Sewer and Landfill). 

 
 Responsible for the preparation and execution of a $75M 

operating budget and a $25M capital budget. 
 
 Directed all personnel hiring as well as disciplinary actions 
 
 2002-2005 Director of City Wide Services 
 Public Works Dept.  Chattanooga, TN 
  
 Supervised 315 employees in providing critical services to 

the City.  Responsible for Solid Waste collection 
(garbage/recycling/yard waste), ROW maintenance, Street 
Construction and Repair, Storm Water Construction, repair, 
and maintenance, Urban Forestry, and Public Works 
Emergency Services. 

 Coordinated street/storm water preventive maintenance 
activities with City Engineering and Storm Water Staffs.  



 2 

 Interfaced on a continuing basis with County and City 
elected officials.  Managed the preparation and execution 
of an annual budget in excess of $12M. 

 Reported directly to the Administrator for Public Works. 
 Resolved 93% of all citizen complaints or request for 

services within allotted time. 
 Implemented new technologies to include:  City One-Call 

Response Center, Project Management for work orders, 
small tool/equipment inventory system, City Works for 
work order management, Automated Vehicle Location/ 

 GPS systems and GIS for repeat maintenance issues.  
Background in Fleet Maintenance operations, Water/Waste 
Water Systems and Storm Water Management. 

 Member of various infrastructure and engineering planning 
groups, Chairman of Regional Solid Waste Advisory 
Committee 

 
 2000-2002 US Army Ft. McPherson, GA 

Assistant City Manager/Chief of Staff 
 
 Supervised 6 department heads (Human Resources, 

Resource Management, Public Works, Community 
Services, Public Safety, Public Affairs) directing the efforts 
of 388 civilian and 177 military employees servicing a 
community of 125,000. 

 Managed the development and execution of a $58 million 
budget.   

 Interfaced with local City/County government officials as 
well as various civic and community leaders. 

 Provided vision and goals to directorate heads to assist 
them in meeting customer needs and in meeting future 
growth requirements.  Coordinated the actions of planners, 
facility managers, and customers ensuring necessary 
facilities and infrastructure upgrades were accomplished to 
meet changing needs. 

 Worked closely with principal union officials, installation 
labor attorneys, and equal opportunity officials ensuring 
compliance with contract terms.  Developed performance 
objectives for each department director.  Organized a 
variety of public functions including POW/MIA Day, 
Women’s Equality Day, and Retirement Ceremonies.  
Partnered with local governments and private organizations 
reducing cost and improving customer service.  Developed 
and implemented an organizational wide employee training 
and evaluation program. 

 



 3 

 1998-2000 US Army Ft. McPherson, GA 
 Chief, Facilities and Construction Branch 
  
 Program Manager for all new US Army Construction in the 

Middle East.  Coordinated the efforts of higher/lower staff 
agencies in planning for future requirements. 

 Met on a continuous basis with representatives from the 
U.S. Army Corps of Engineer Office to ensure customer 
needs were satisfied.   

 Represented the U.S. Army at meetings with foreign 
government officials.  Personally responsible for the 
successful planning, budgeting and construction of a $147 
million dollar facility in Kuwait.   

 As the resident Director of Public Works (DPW) expert, 
developed and provided policy guidance for DPWs located 
in the Middle East.  Briefed senior officers on both 
construction and public works issues in the Middle East. 

 Supervised a team of skilled engineers in resolving a 
variety of design and engineering issues. 

 Coordinated real estate leasing actions for U.S. Army 
installations in the Middle East. 

  
 1996-1997 US Army Hohenfels, Germany 
 Director of Base Operations 
  
 Led a team of 20 soldiers and civilian professionals in the 

coordination of all community activities on an installation 
with 5,500 residents.  Performed the duties of the 
Community Commander as needed.  Directed all Force 
Protection and Safety related operations including the 
supervision of the military police detachment. 

 Chaired the Executive Steering Committee comprised of 
the communities’ senior level leadership with the task of 
identifying future community requirements. 

 Served as the community’s primary focal point for 
interfacing with local German community officials. 

 Set priorities for and directed the efforts of various 
department heads to include the Director of Public Works, 
Director of Recreation, Director of Public Safety and 
Director of Training and Security. 

 Managed the formulation of the annual command operating 
budget and monitored execution. 

 
 
 
 



 4 

 1995-1996 US Army Hohenfels, Germany 
 Director of Public Works 
  
 Directed the efforts of a 345 person combined German and 

American work force in maintaining the smooth operation 
of the installation supporting 5,500 personnel. 

 Directly supervised 6 branch chiefs (Utilities, Buildings & 
Grounds, Design & Engineering, Construction, Master 
Planning & Development and Environmental Engineering) 
in accomplishment of all directorate responsibilities. 

 Provided oversight and budget responsibilities for fire and 
emergency medical services. 

 Developed long range plans to improve infrastructure and 
facilities in order to support an expanding population base. 

 Managed support services for the quarterly 
arrival/departure of up to 3,000 additional personnel. 

 Ensured compliance with all local and US government 
environmental regulations. 

 Headed the community development committee setting 
priorities for renovation and new construction. 

 Actively sought and secured US/German government 
permission and funding to construct new public/private 
venture housing for US military and civilian personnel. 

 
Education 1998 US Army Command & Staff College  
 Ft. Leavenworth, KS 
 Organizational Management 
 
 1997 US Army Corps of Engineers, Ft. Belvoir, VA 
 Director of Public Works Certification 
 
 1996   US Army Corps of Engineers Germany 
 Budget Preparation, Contract Management, 

Employee/Labor Management, Equal Opportunity, 
Prevention of Sexual Harassment, Environmental and 
Resource Management, Americans with Disabilities Act, 
Construction Inspection, Quality Assurance/Control, Job 
Order Contracting, Conflict Resolution, Personnel 
Management for Executives, Employee 
Mentoring/Counseling, Activity Based 
Costing/Management. 

 
 1990 Texas A&M University College Station, TX 
 Master of Science Construction Management 
 
 



 5 

 1982 & 1986 US Army Engineer School, Ft. Belvoir, VA 
 Engineering Certificates 
 
 1982 University of Georgia  Athens, GA 
 BS Economics 
 
 1980 Abraham Baldwin College Tifton, GA 
 Georgia  
  
 AS Agricultural Science 
 Forest Technology 
 
Professional 
Associations Former Director, Middle Tennessee Branch, Tennessee 

Chapter of American Public Works Association 
 Society of American Military Engineers 
 
 



No. 216-21 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO ESTABLISH A MANDATORY RETIREMENT AGE REQUIREMENT 
PURSUANT TO TENNESSEE CODE ANNOTATED, SECTION 8-36-205, TO AUTHORIZE THE 
PAYMENT OF THE SUPPLEMENTAL BRIDGE BENEFIT PURSUANT TO TENNESSEE CODE 
ANNOTATED, SECTION 8-36-211, AND TO AUTHORIZE GROUP 1 MEMBERS WHO HAVE 
CREDITABLE SERVICE IN A GROUP 1 POSITION COVERED BY SUCH MANDATORY AGE 
RETIREMENT TO RETIRE ON SERVICE RETIREMENT BENEFITS UPON ATTAINMENT OF 
AGE FIFTY-FIVE (55) WITH TWENTY-FIVE (25) YEARS OF CREDITABLE SERVICE 
PURSUANT TO TENNESSEE CODE ANNOTATED, SECTION 8-36-201(A)(2). 
 

WHEREAS, Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-205 provides that any political subdivision 
participating in the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System may establish a 
mandatory retirement age requirement for all its firefighters and police officers, and for 
all its employees who have been transferred from such a position to a supervisory or 
administrative position within the political subdivision’s police or fire department;  
provided that: 

 
(A) the mandatory retirement of any such employee does not violate the Age 

Discrimination in Employment Act.  In case of doubt, the respective political 
subdivision shall determine whether the employee is employed in a position 
requiring the mandatory retirement of such employee under the provisions of 
Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-205(a)(2); 

(B)  the terms and conditions of the requirement shall be the same for all such employees 
within its employ; 

(C)  the mandatory age requirement shall not be less than sixty (60) years of age; 
(D)  each such employee shall be retired on the first day of the month following the 

month in which the employee attains the age requirement established by the 
political subdivision;  

(E)  if the mandatory age requirement established by the political subdivision is less than 
the age requirement for receipt of old age and survivors benefits under Title II of 
the Federal Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 401-425), each such employee shall 
be entitled to the supplemental bridge benefit established pursuant to Tennessee 
Code Annotated, Section 8-36-211;  and 

(F)  the chief governing body of the political subdivision passes a resolution authorizing 
the establishment of the mandatory retirement age requirement, and if the 



mandatory age requirement established by the political subdivision is less than the 
age requirement for receipt of old age and survivors benefits under Title II of the 
Federal Social Security Act, the political subdivision accepts the liability associated 
with the granting of the supplemental bridge benefit.  All costs associated with 
providing the supplemental benefit shall be paid by the political subdivision and not 
by the State; and 

 
WHEREAS, Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-201(a)(2) further authorizes any political 

subdivision that establishes a mandatory retirement age requirement that is sixty (60) 
years of age or older, but less than sixty-two (62), to permit Group 1 members who have 
creditable service in a Group 1 position covered by such mandatory retirement age 
requirement to retire on service retirement benefits upon attainment of age fifty-five (55) 
with twenty-five (25) years of creditable service, provided that the service retirement 
benefits be based on the years of creditable service rendered and the average final 
compensation received while the Group 1 member served in a Group 1 position covered 
by the mandatory retirement provisions.  All other service shall be calculated under the 
reduced (early) retirement provisions; and 

 
WHEREAS,  the Hamilton County Commission desires to establish a mandatory retirement age 

requirement pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-205, to grant the 
supplemental bridge benefit pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-211, 
and to allow Group 1 members who have creditable service in a Group 1 position 
covered by such mandatory retirement age requirement to retire on service retirement 
benefits pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-201(a)(2); and  

 
WHEREAS, it is acknowledged that the costs associated with the granting of the supplemental bridge 

benefit pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-211 and of service 
retirement benefits pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-201(a)(2) shall 
increase its accrued liability rate by three and one half percent (3½%) of the covered 
payroll of the affected employees; and 

 
WHEREAS, it is further acknowledged that if the mandatory retirement age requirement established 

by the Political Subdivision is sixty (60) years of age or older, but less than sixty-two 
(62), the political subdivision shall determine whether any employee subject to such 
retirement age requirement serves in a supervisory or administrative position which 
requires less than fifty percent (50%) of the employee’s duties to be involved in day-to-
day law enforcement or firefighting activities.  If the Political Subdivision makes any 
such determination, then the employee may continue in service until the first day of the 
month following the month in which the employee attains sixty-two (62) years of age;  
provided such employee completes any form as may be required pursuant to Tennessee 
Code Annotated, Section 8-36-211 and files the same at the time and in the manner 
prescribed in Section 8-36-211.  

 
 
 



 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That Hamilton County Government establishes a mandatory retirement age requirement of sixty (60) 
for all its firefighters and police officers, and for all its employees who have been transferred from such 
a position to a supervisory or administrative position within the political subdivision’s police or fire 
department subject to the terms and conditions of Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 8-36-205. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the supplemental bridge benefit established pursuant to Tennessee 
Code Annotated, Section 8-36-211 be paid to each Group 1 member who retires on a service retirement 
allowance on or after the attainment of age fifty-five (55) with creditable service in a Group 1 position 
covered by the mandatory retirement age requirement established pursuant to this resolution and hereby 
agrees to accept the associated liability.  Said payment to be made until the first day of the month 
following the month in which the member dies, or until the first day of the month following the month 
in which the member reaches the age requirement for receipt of old age and survivors benefits under 
Title II of the Federal Social Security Act. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that Hamilton County Government authorizes its Group 1 members 
who have creditable service in a Group 1 position covered by such mandatory retirement age 
requirement to retire on service retirement benefits upon attainment of age fifty-five (55) with twenty-
five (25) years of creditable service, provided that the service retirement benefits be based on the years 
of creditable service rendered and the average final compensation received while the Group 1 member 
served in a Group 1 position covered by the mandatory retirement provisions.  All other service shall be 
calculated under the reduced (early) retirement provisions. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the effective date of this Resolution shall be on August 1, 2016 
with a transitional deferral date of July 1, 2018 for the enforcement of the mandatory retirement age 
requirement (which date cannot be later than the July 1 following twelve (12) months after the effective 
date of the resolution). Any such deferral period shall not apply to any other provisions of this 
Resolution, such provisions being effective on the effective date of this Resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that Hamilton County Government will continue to follow the most 
current Resolution in relation to retirement eligibility for Hamilton County Employees health insurance 
benefits. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that Hamilton County Government does not currently employ 
firefighters and therefore the provisions of this resolution only applies to eligible police officers.  
However, if Hamilton County Government employ firefighters in the future, the provisons of this 
Resolution shall apply equally to its firefighters. 
 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THE RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 



 

 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 216-22 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE EXPENDITURE OF TWENTY THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($20,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO 
DISTRICT TWO, TO ASSIST THE TOWN OF SIGNAL MOUNTAIN WITH COMMUNITY BALL 
FIELD IMPROVEMENTS. 
 
WHEREAS, the Town of Signal Mountain has a need to make improvements to their community ball 

fields; and 
 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Jim Fields has expressed a desire to allocate Twenty Thousand Dollars 

($20,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to assist with the ball field 
improvements; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the expenditure of Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000.00) from General Fund discretionary 
monies, as allotted to District Two, be approved to assist the Town of Signal Mountain with 
community ball field improvements. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 216-23 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO PARTNERSHIP FOR FAMILIES, 
CHILDREN AND ADULTS, INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF ONE THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($1,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO 
DISTRICT NINE. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Chester Bankston has expressed a desire to allocate One Thousand 

Dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to Partnership for Families, 
Children and Adults, Inc., to support the Rape Crisis Center; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies be appropriated to 
Partnership for Families, Children and Adults, Inc., to support the Rape Crisis Center. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 

 



 

 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 









No. 216-24 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO PARTNERSHIP FOR FAMILIES, 
CHILDREN AND ADULTS, INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF ONE THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($1,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO 
DISTRICT SEVEN. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Sabrena Smedley has expressed a desire to allocate One Thousand 

Dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to Partnership for Families, 
Children and Adults, Inc., to assist with the Rape Crisis Center; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 
That One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies be appropriated to 
Partnership for Families, Children and Adults, Inc., to assist with the Rape Crisis Center. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 

 



 

 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 









No. 216-25 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO WANT TO FOUNDATION, INC., IN THE 
AMOUNT OF TWO THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($2,500.00) FROM GENERAL 
FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT EIGHT. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Tim Boyd has expressed a desire to allocate Two Thousand Five Hundred 

Dollars ($2,500.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to Want To Foundation, 
Inc., to assist with their Destiny Program; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 
That Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($2,500.00) from General Fund discretionary monies be 
appropriated to Want To Foundation, Inc., to assist with their Destiny Program. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 

 
 



 

 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 







No. 216-26 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE EXPENDITURE OF UP TO SEVEN THOUSAND TWO 
HUNDRED DOLLARS ($7,200.00) FROM DISCRETIONARY BOND FUNDS (AS ALLOTTED 
TO DISTRICT FIVE) TO PURCHASE AN AUDIO AND SPEAKER SYSTEM FOR THE 
BRAINERD HIGH SCHOOL GYMNASIUM. 
 
WHEREAS, Brainerd High School gymnasium is in need of an audio and speaker system; and 
 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Greg Beck has expressed a desire to use up to Seven Thousand Two 

Hundred Dollars ($7,200.00) from discretionary bond funds as allotted to District Five to 
Purchase said audio and speaker system; and 

 
WHEREAS, this purchase has been approved by the Hamilton County Board of Education; and 
 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the expenditure of up to Seven Thousand Two Hundred Dollars ($7,200.00) from discretionary 
bond funds (as allotted to District Five) be approved to purchase an audio and speaker system for the 
Brainerd High School gymnasium. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 216-27 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO A BETTER TOMORROW IN THE 
AMOUNT OF TWO THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($2,500.00) FROM GENERAL 
FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FIVE. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Greg Beck has expressed a desire to allocate Two Thousand Five 

Hundred Dollars ($2,500.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to A Better 
Tomorrow to assist with their Project Evolution program; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($2,500.00) from General Fund discretionary monies be 
appropriated to A Better Tomorrow to assist with their Project Evolution program. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 

 
 



 

 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 







No. 216-28 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO MARY WALKER HISTORICAL AND 
EDUCATIONAL FOUNDATION, INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF TWENTY SIX THOUSAND 
DOLLARS ($26,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED 
TO DISTRICT FIVE. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Greg Beck has expressed a desire to allocate a total of Twenty Six 

Thousand Dollars ($26,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to Mary Walker 
Historical and Educational Foundation, Inc., distributing the funds as follows: (1) 
Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000.00) to assist with various community projects in 
District Five; and (2) Six Thousand Dollars ($6,000.00) to assist with their Black History 
Art Exhibit and advertisement of same; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 
That a total of Twenty Six Thousand Dollars ($26,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies be 
appropriated to Mary Walker Historical and Educational Foundation, Inc., to be distributed as follows: 
(1) Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000.00) to assist with various community projects in District Five; 
and (2) Six Thousand Dollars ($6,000.00) to assist with their Black History Art Exhibit and 
advertisement of same. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
 



 

 

1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 
appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 

 
2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 

organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 









No. 216-29 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF CHATTANOOGA TRACTOR & 
EQUIPMENT, INC. FOR ONE (1) TRACTOR WITH BOOM MOWER AMOUNTING TO 
$95,667.00 FOR THE HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 
MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 

 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) tractor with 

boom mower for the Highway Department; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Chattanooga Tractor & Equipment, Inc. amounting to 

$95,667.00 was considered to be the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Chattanooga Tractor & Equipment, Inc. for one (1) tractor with boom mower 
amounting to $95,667.00 for the Highway Department is hereby accepted, said bid being the 
lowest and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts 
necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 









































No. 216-30 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SUBMIT A FASTTRACK 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND GRANT APPLICATION TO THE TENNESSEE 
DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT ON BEHALF OF 
YANFENG USA AUTOMOTIVE TRIM SYSTEMS, INC. IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO 
EXCEED $1.25 MILLION TO PROVIDE VARIOUS BUILDING AND EQUIPMENT 
IMPROVEMENTS AT THE COMPANY’S NEW HAMILTON COUNTY LOCATION 

 
WHEREAS,  Yanfeng Group is the largest automotive interior supplier worldwide; and,  
 
WHEREAS, Yanfeng USA will invest in excess of $54 million in land, building and 

equipment to open its first Tennessee facility on Bonnyshire Drive in Hamilton 
County in order to manufacture various automotive interior products for 
Volkswagen Group of North America as well as other US customers; and,   

 
WHEREAS,  The company will bring 325 new jobs to Hamilton County at an average annual 

wage of $48,000 for production employees; and, 
 
WHEREAS,  The Tennessee Department of Economic and Community Development offers 

a FastTrack Economic Development (ED) Fund grant program to help with 
expenses such as building retrofits, repairs or improvements; relocation or 
purchase of equipment; relocation of personnel; new construction and other 
items associated with company relocation or expansion; and,    

 
WHEREAS,  Hamilton County will apply for a FastTrack ED Fund grant in an amount not to 

exceed $1.25 million on behalf of Yanfeng USA to assist with building and 
equipment improvements; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  No local match is required; and, 
 
WHEREAS, This project will be accounted for through the Industrial Development 

 Fund; and 



 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

The County Mayor is hereby authorized to submit an application to the 
Tennessee Department of Economic and Community Development for a 
FastTrack Economic Development Fund grant on behalf of Yanfeng USA in an 
amount not to exceed $1.25 million to provide building and equipment 
improvements at the company’s new Hamilton County location.  

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 216-31 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SUBMIT A FASTTRACK 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND GRANT APPLICATION TO THE TENNESSEE 
DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT ON BEHALF OF 
WEST STAR AVIATION, INC. IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $200,000 TO 
PROVIDE VARIOUS IMPROVEMENTS AT THE COMPANY’S NEW HANGER 
FACILITY AT THE CHATTANOOGA METROPOLITAN AIRPORT. 

 
WHEREAS,  West Star Aviation offers MRO (maintenance, repair and overhaul) services as 

well as general aeronautical services to private aircraft at multiple locations 
around the US; and,  

 
WHEREAS, West Star Aviation will invest in excess of $22 million in land, building and 

equipment to open a new facility in Hamilton County in order to better serve 
East Coast corporate aviation flight departments; and,   

 
WHEREAS,  The company will bring 200 new jobs to Hamilton County at an average annual 

wage of $55,000 for maintenance employees; and, 
 
WHEREAS,  The Tennessee Department of Economic and Community Development offers 

a FastTrack Economic Development Fund grant program to help with expenses 
associated with company relocation or expansion; and,    

 
WHEREAS,  Hamilton County will apply for a FastTrack Economic Development Fund 

grant in an amount not to exceed $200,000 on behalf of West Star Aviation to 
assist with building and equipment improvements; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  No local match is required; and, 
 
WHEREAS, This project will be accounted for through the Industrial Development 

 Fund; and 
 



 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

The County Mayor is hereby authorized to submit an application to the 
Tennessee Department of Economic and Community Development for a 
FastTrack Economic Development Fund grant on behalf of West Star Aviation 
in an amount not to exceed $200,000 to provide building and equipment 
improvements at the company’s new hanger facility at the Chattanooga 
Metropolitan Airport.   

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 216-32 

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO NEGOTIATE, 
ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE A LEASE AGREEMENT BETWEEN HAMILTON 
COUNTY, THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA AND THE CHARLES H. COOLIDGE 
MEDAL OF HONOR HERITAGE CENTER FOR A PORTION OF COUNTY AND 
CITY OWNED PROPERTY LOCATED IN COOLIDGE PARK, TO LOCATE A 
MEDAL OF HONOR HERITAGE CENTER IN COOLIDGE PARK TO FURTHER 
HONOR CHARLES H. COOLIDGE AS A MEDAL OF HONOR RECIPIENT AND 
TO ACT AS A MEMORIAL BY REFLECTING THE HERITAGE OF THE MEDAL 
OF HONOR. 

WHEREAS, Hamilton County (County) and the City of Chattanooga (City) jointly-
own certain property, identified by State Tax Map No.  135E-N-
024.02, located in Coolidge Park; and, 

WHEREAS, the Charles H. Coolidge Heritage Center has requested, by the attached 
letter, to lease approximately one (1) acre (subject to survey) of said 
property for 99 years, paying $1.00 annually, for the purpose of 
constructing a Medal of Honor Heritage Center in Coolidge Park; and, 

WHEREAS, the Heritage Center will construct a 6,800 square foot, two-story 
building, at no cost to the County, to become a tourist destination for 
visitors to Hamilton County along with many military reunions and to 
serve as an education center and field trip destination for area schools; 
and,  

WHEREAS, it is in the best of the citizens of Hamilton County to enter into said 
lease agreement to further honor Charles H. Coolidge, Medal of Honor 
recipient and to reflect the heritage of The Medal of Honor.  



 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the County Mayor is hereby authorized to negotiate, enter into and execute a lease 
agreement between Hamilton County, the City of Chattanooga and The Charles H. 
Coolidge Medal of Honor Heritage Center, by the terms described above, for a portion 
of property jointly-owned by Hamilton County and the City of Chattanooga, identified 
as a portion of State Tax Map No. 135E-N-024.02 located in Coolidge Park, for the 
purpose of constructing, at no cost to Hamilton County, a 6,800 square foot, two-story 
building to further honor Charles H. Coolidge, Medal of Honor recipient and to act as a 
memorial reflecting  the heritage of the Medal of Honor. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.      
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 







No. 216-33 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF PRO SVL, INC. FOR AUDIO VISUAL 
EQUIPMENT AMOUNTING TO $96,233.12 FOR THE INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 
SERVICES DEPARTMENT ON BEHALF OF THE SESSIONS COURT AND 
AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO 
IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for audio visual 

equipment for the Information Technology Services Department on behalf of 
the Sessions Court; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the bid from Pro SVL, Inc. amounting to $96,233.12 was considered to be the 

lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Pro SVL, Inc. for audio visual equipment amounting to $96,233.12 for the 
Information Technology Services Department on behalf of the Sessions Court is hereby 
accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to 
sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 





































No. 216-34 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE QUOTATION OF TECHNICAL INNOVATIONS FOR 
PROFESSIONAL COMPUTER/SOFTWARE CONSULTING SERVICES FOR DESIGN AND 
FIELD ENGINEERING AND INSTALLATION OF AUDIO VISUAL EQUIPMENT AMOUNTING 
TO $51,794.10 FOR THE INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SERVICES DEPARTMENT ON 
BEHALF OF THE SESSIONS COURT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN 
ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, a quote was received from Technical Innovations for professional computer/software 

consulting services to design engineer and install audio visual equipment for the 
Information Technology Services Department on behalf of the Sessions Court; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the quotation from Technical Innovations amounting to $51,794.10 was considered 

to be reasonable; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the quotation of Technical Innovations for professional computer/software consulting services for 
design and field engineering and installation of the audio visual equipment amounting to $51,794.10 
for the Information Technology Services Department on behalf of the Sessions Court is hereby 
accepted, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this 
resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 









No. 216-35 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF STAFFORD-SMITH, INC. FOR THREE (3) 
PRISONER TRAY TRANSPORT SERVER CABINETS AMOUNTING TO $15,591.00 FOR THE 
SHERIFF’S OFFICE AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS 
NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for three (3) prisoner tray 

transport server cabinets for the Sheriff’s Office; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Stafford-Smith, Inc. amounting to $15,591.00 was considered to be the 

lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Stafford-Smith, Inc. for three (3) prisoner tray transport server cabinets amounting to 
$15,591.00 for the Sheriff’s Office is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid received, 
and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 



























No. 216-36 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF BUMPUS HARLEY-DAVIDSON OF 
MURFREESBORO FOR ONE (1) POLICE MOTORCYCLE AMOUNTING TO $17,092.00 
FOR THE SHERIFF’S OFFICE AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN 
ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
  
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) police 

motorcycle for the Sheriff’s Office; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Bumpus Harley-Davidson of Murfreesboro amounting to 

$17,092.00 was the only bid received, but said bid is deemed reasonable; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Bumpus Harley-Davidson of Murfreesboro for one (1) police motorcycle 
amounting to $17,092.00 for the Sheriff’s Office is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest 
and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to 
implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 



































No. 216-37 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF FLU VACCINE FROM NOVARTIS, 
SANOFI-PASTEUR, McKESSON MED-SURG MN SUPPLY AT STATEWIDE CONTRACT 
PRICING AND, IF NECESSARY, OTHER FIRMS AT THE LOWEST AND BEST AVAILABLE 
PRICING QUOTE FOR THE HEALTH DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 
MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS,   State contract pricing has been quoted from the only sources, GSK, ASD, 

Novartis, Sanofi Pasteur, CSL /Merck, MedImmune, McKesson MedSurg MN Supply 
and FFF Enterprises  currently having FDA approved flu vaccine for the upcoming 
season; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Health Department has determined that vaccine purchases from these firms  
  and others that may offer the vaccine as the influenza season approaches may be  
  required in order to ensure a timely and adequate supply of influenza vaccine for  
  Hamilton County citizenry; and 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available to the requisitioning  
  department. 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the purchase of flu vaccine from Novartis, Sanofi-Pasteur, and McKesson medSurg MN Supply, 
and other firms that subsequently offer such vaccine for the Health Department is hereby accepted and 
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 216-38 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF OUTDOOR RECREATION, INC. FOR CONTRACT 
UNIT PRICING, BEGINNING FEBRUARY 17, 2016, THROUGH FEBRUARY 16, 2017, FOR 
PERSONALIZED PARK BENCHES FOR THE HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS 
THE CHATTANOOGA / HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING 
THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) year contract unit 

pricing for personalized park benches for the Health Services Division, operating as 
the Chattanooga/Hamilton County Health Department; and, 

 
WHEREAS, benches will be ordered centrally by Hamilton County, but will be delivered to 

various municipalities within the County; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Outdoor Recreation, Inc. was considered to be the lowest and best bid 

received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, this project is funded under a Letter of Agreement using Tobacco Settlement Funds. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Outdoor Recreation, Inc. for contract unit pricing, beginning February 17, 2016, 
through February 16, 2017, for personalized park benches for the Health Services Division, operating 
as the Chattanooga/Hamilton County Health Department is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest 
and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement 
this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 

































No. 216-39 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF HUDSON CONSTRUCTION COMPANY FOR 
CONTRACT PRICING, FOR ONE (1) YEAR WITH THE OPTION TO RENEW FOR THREE (3) 
ADDITIONAL ONE (1) YEAR TERMS, FOR MICRO SEALING AND RESURFACING 
SERVICES FOR THE HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 
TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) year contract 

pricing, with the option to renew for three (3) additional one (1) year terms for micro 
sealing and resurfacing services for the Highway Department; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the bid from Hudson Construction Company was the only bid received, but said bid 

has been deemed reasonable; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Hudson Construction Company for contract pricing for one (1) year, with the option to 
renew for three (3) additional one (1) year terms, for micro sealing and resurfacing services for the 
Highway Department is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid received, and 
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 





































No. 216-40 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT 
WITH WOOLPERT, INC. TO PROVIDE HAMILTON COUNTY WITH GEOGRAPHIC 
INFORMATION SYSTEM COLOR AND COLOR INFRARED DIGITAL 
ORTHOPHOTOGRAPHY  FOR HAMILTON COUNTY AT A COST OF $86,100 AND TO 
AMEND THE HAMILTON COUNTY PARTNERSHIP BUDGET BY ADDING $57,400 TO 
REVENUE  AND $86,100  TO EXPENDITURES.  

 

WHEREAS, Hamilton County entered into a Partnership, Hamilton County Geographic Information 
System Partnership, via Resolution 206-25 with other area governments, quasi-
governmental agencies and utilities to maintain a current Geographic Information 
System; and 

 
WHEREAS, Geographic Information System Data Acquisition is a designated Professional Service; 

and 
 
WHEREAS, The proposal from Woolpert, Inc. is considered to be appropriately priced and provides 

the services required; and 
 
WHEREAS, Partial funding of $28,700, for this contract will be provided by the Hamilton County 

Geographic Information System Partnership; and  
 
WHEREAS, The balance of this cost, $57,400, will be borne on a 50/50 basis between the City of 

Chattanooga and Hamilton County; and 
 
WHEREAS, Hamilton County’s portion, $28,700, has already been budgeted; and 
 
WHEREAS, 50% of the revenues of the GIS Department which result from the data acquired from 

this project shall be earmarked to maintain this GIS data; and 
 
WHEREAS, It is in the best interest of Hamilton County that this resolution become effective only 

upon the passage of a resolution by the City of Chattanooga authorizing their share of 
these expenses.  

 



 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 

That the County Mayor be authorized to enter into a contract with Woolpert, Inc. to provide Hamilton 
County with complete Color and Color Infrared Digital Orthophotography at a cost of $86,100 and to 
amend the Hamilton County Partnership Budget by adding $57,400 to Revenue and $86,100 to 
Expenditures subject to the conditions outlined above.  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 



 
 
 
 

Woolpert Master Professional Service Agreement  
January 29, 2016 Hamilton County, Tennessee 1MPSA-09/14 

Master Professional Service Agreement between 

Woolpert, Inc. and Hamilton County, Tennessee 

Section 1. General 
THIS MASTER AGREEMENT, made and entered into this   day of   , 2016, by and between Woolpert, 
Inc., whose address is 375 Northridge Road, Suite 300, Atlanta, GA  30350-3296 (hereinafter referred to as 
“Woolpert”) and the “Client” identified herein, provides for the Professional Services described under Section 3 of 
this Agreement. 

 Client: Hamilton County, Tennessee 

 Address: 1250 Market Street, Suite 1010, Chattanooga, TN 37402 

 Contact Person: Kristen Johnsey, GISP, GIS Manager 

 Phone Number: 423.209.7760 

 Fax Number: 423.209.7761 

 Project Number: 

 Title: Hamilton County Geospatial Services 
 

The “Contact Person” designated above shall have the complete authority to act on behalf of the Client, including, 
by way of illustration and not by way of limitation, to define scope, transmit instructions, receive information, and 
authorize changes in Professional Services, and to negotiate fees and other changes under this Agreement. 

Woolpert and Client agree that a separate Task Order, in a form substantially similar to that attached hereto as 
Attachment A, shall be issued and mutually executed for each separate Project authorized by the Client during the 
term of this Master Agreement. Each Task Order will establish and set forth Woolpert’s responsibilities, 
compensation and timing of services in connection with a specific Project and upon execution of such Task Order is 
hereby incorporated by reference. 

The Master Agreement together with an executed Task Order or Addendum to the Task Order and any Attachments 
to either shall constitute the Agreement between Woolpert and the Client (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Agreement”). In resolving conflicts, errors, discrepancies and disputes concerning the scope of services, 
precedence shall be given in the following order: a fully executed Task Order (later executed Task Orders and 
Addendums to Task Orders as well as email authorizations as provided herein taking precedence over earlier dated 
Task Orders, Addendums, and email authorizations for a specific Project), Amendments to this Agreement, 
provisions of this Agreement, and required provisions contained in any governmental regulation incorporated 
herein by reference. With respect to all other matters, precedence shall be given in the following order 
Amendments to this Agreement, provisions of this Agreement, and required provisions contained in any 
governmental regulation incorporated herein by reference and a fully executed Task Order (later executed Task 
Orders as well as email authorizations as provided herein taking precedence over earlier dated Task Orders, 
Addendums, and email authorizations for a specific Project). 

Section 2. General Description of Project and Project Area 
The Client’s Project(s) shall be as described in a Task Order for each specific Project, which Task Order is 
incorporated by this reference 

The project area for each Project shall be as described in a Task Order for each specific Project. 

Section 3. General Description of Professional Services 
The Professional Services to be provided by Woolpert shall be as set forth in a Task Order for each specific Project. 



 

Woolpert Master Professional Service Agreement  
January 29, 2016 Hamilton County, Tennessee 2MPSA-09/14 

Any services beyond those identified in each specific Task Order shall be considered Additional Services and shall be 
authorized in writing by an Addendum to the Task Order executed by both parties or via email as provided herein. 
Email transmissions may be utilized, but may only be utilized, to effectuate changes in scope, compensation, or 
schedule provided the other party receives the transmission and agrees that the terms and conditions are 
acceptable in a response email. The parties agree that any modifications or additions to the legal terms and 
conditions of this Agreement must be effected through a properly executed Amendment to this Agreement and any 
such changes beyond scope, compensation, or schedule included in an email transmission shall be considered void 
and of no effect. 

Section 4. Compensation to Be Paid to Woolpert 
Compensation to be paid to Woolpert for providing the requested Services shall be as set forth in a Task Order for 
each specific Project. 

Section 5. Date of Commencement and Completion 
The Date of Commencement for Services and completion dates for Services performed for a specific Project shall be 
as set forth in a Task Order for such Project or if no date is established, the date Woolpert commences and 
completes the Services. Woolpert shall not be obligated to commence services until this Agreement and applicable 
Task Order(s) are fully executed. Woolpert shall perform its services with due and reasonable diligence consistent 
with sound professional practice. This Agreement shall remain in effect until December 31, 2017 unless terminated 
as provided herein, or extended by mutual agreement in writing.  

Section 6. Terms and Conditions 
6.1 Delayed Services: Woolpert’s fees have been calculated in anticipation of orderly and continuous progress 
of each separate Project. If services are disrupted or delayed for reasons beyond Woolpert’s control, the 
termination date specified in Section 5 of this Agreement shall be modified and the fees shall be equitably adjusted. 

6.2 Invoice Procedures and Payment: Woolpert shall submit invoices to the Client for Services rendered during 
each invoicing period which shall generally be on a monthly basis. For Services provided on a Lump Sum basis, the 
amount of each invoice shall be determined on the “percentage of completion method” whereby Woolpert will 
estimate the percentage of the Lump Sum Services accomplished during the invoicing period. For services provided 
on a Unit Cost/Hourly basis, invoices shall include, separately listed, any fees for Services for which time charges 
and/or unit costs apply for the invoicing period. Such invoices shall also separately list reimbursable expenses, if 
applicable. Such invoices shall be submitted not more frequently than monthly by Woolpert and shall be due and 
payable by the Client upon receipt. The Client hereby acknowledges that unpaid invoices shall accrue interest at 1.5 
percent per month after such invoices have been outstanding for over 30 days. If payment is not made as provided 
herein, the Client agrees to pay all costs of collection, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, regardless of whether 
legal action is initiated. If an invoice remains unpaid 30 days after the date of the invoice, Woolpert may, 
immediately upon giving notice of its intent to do so, suspend services or terminate this Agreement and pursue its 
remedies for collection. Woolpert may also immediately suspend its services or terminate its agreement on any 
other project with the Client or any entity affiliated, related, or otherwise partially controlled by the Client, and/or 
apply funds from one such project to this Project or any other project on which payment to Woolpert is overdue. In 
the event that Woolpert suspends or terminates an agreement as provided in this Paragraph 6.2, Woolpert shall 
have no responsibility or liability arising out of such suspension or termination. 

6.3 Expert Witness Services/Dispute Resolution Proceedings: It is understood and agreed that Woolpert’s 
services under this Agreement do not include any participation whatsoever in any litigation or dispute resolution 
process. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as obligating Woolpert to appear, support, prepare, 
document, bring, defend or assist in any litigation or dispute resolution process either undertaken or defended by 
Client except in consideration of compensation. Should such services be required, a separate Professional Service 
Agreement may be negotiated between the Client and Woolpert describing the services desired and providing a 



 

Woolpert Master Professional Service Agreement  
January 29, 2016 Hamilton County, Tennessee 3MPSA-09/14 

basis for compensation to Woolpert. In addition, in the event that Woolpert is required to respond to any 
subpoena, or participate in any proceeding pertaining to or arising out of a claim, brought by any third party or 
governmental agency against the Client or with respect to the Project, except to the extent that such is caused by 
the negligence of Woolpert in performance of Services hereunder, Client shall reimburse Woolpert for such costs. 

6.4 Opinions and Estimates of Cost/Green Services: The Client hereby acknowledges that Woolpert cannot 
warrant that opinions or estimates of probable construction or operating costs provided by Woolpert will not vary 
from actual costs incurred by the Client. In the event that the Scope of Services in a Task Order includes “green” 
services, including but not limited to those associated with LEED®, Client acknowledges and understands that such 
services are subject to interpretation, and achieving levels of compliance involves factors beyond the control of 
Woolpert, including, but not limited to, the end use, operation and maintenance of the completed Project. 
Woolpert cannot and does not warrant or represent that the Project will achieve any specific green certification or 
realize any particular energy savings and Woolpert shall not be responsible for any environmental or energy issues 
arising out of the end use and operation of the completed Project. 

6.5 Limit of Liability: The limit of liability of Woolpert and its subcontractors to the Client for any cause or 
combination of causes resulting from the Services for each separate Project rendered hereunder or otherwise 
related to this Agreement shall be, in total amount, limited to the fees paid by Client to Woolpert for such Project. 

6.6 Construction Phase: Woolpert shall not be responsible for or have control over construction means, 
methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures; or for safety precautions and programs in connection with the 
work. Nor shall Woolpert be responsible for any contractor’s or subcontractors’ failure to carry out the work in 
accordance with the plans and specifications and other contract documents prepared by Woolpert (hereinafter 
collectively “Contract Documents”) or for any contractor’s or subcontractors’ failure to comply with applicable laws, 
ordinances, rules, or regulations. Woolpert will not have any direct contractual relationship with the contractor, any 
subcontractors or material suppliers. Woolpert may, under a separate subcontract with the contractor, provide 
survey services. Woolpert shall not be bound by any term or obligation contained in any “General Condition” or 
other construction bidding documents unless expressly consented to by Woolpert in writing. In the event that the 
Scope of Services in a Task Order includes site visits or inspections, the parties understand that Woolpert is not 
being retained to make detailed inspections or to provide exhaustive or continuous project review and observation 
services. Rather, Woolpert shall visit the project based on the schedule provided in the Scope of Services to become 
generally familiar with the progress and quality of the contractors’ work and to determine if the work is proceeding 
in general accordance with the Contract Documents prepared by Woolpert.  

6.7  Shop Drawings/Contractor Pay Applications: In the event that the Scope of Services in a Task Order 
includes review of shop drawings, product data, or samples, the parties agree that Woolpert’s review shall be for 
the limited purpose of checking for conformance with the design concept and the information expressed in the 
Contract Documents. This review shall not include review of the accuracy or completeness of details, such as 
quantities, dimensions, weights or gauges, fabrication processes, construction means or methods, coordination of 
the work with other trades or construction safety precautions, all of which are the sole responsibility of the 
Contractor. Woolpert’s review shall be conducted with reasonable promptness while allowing sufficient time in the 
Woolpert’s judgment to permit adequate review. Review of a specific item shall not indicate that the Woolpert has 
reviewed the entire assembly of which the item is a component. Woolpert shall not be responsible for any 
deviations from the Contract Documents not brought to the attention of Woolpert in writing by the contractor. 
Woolpert shall not be required to review partial submissions or those for which submissions or correlated items 
have not been received. In the event that the Scope of Services in a Task Order includes review or approval of 
contractor pay applications, the parties agree that such review or approval of contractor pay estimates shall be 
based on site visits by Woolpert and the data comprising the contractor’s pay estimates, which Woolpert shall be 
entitled to rely upon, and represents in Woolpert’s professional opinion, and to the best of the Woolpert’s 
knowledge, information, and belief, that the construction work has progressed as indicated. Such review or 
approval shall not be deemed a guarantee or certification that (1) remaining funds are sufficient to complete the 
construction the Project, (2) the contractor has paid all lower tier subcontractors, or (3) such pay estimates are 
completely representative of the work actually performed by the contractor. Such pay estimate approvals are 



 

Woolpert Master Professional Service Agreement  
January 29, 2016 Hamilton County, Tennessee 4MPSA-09/14 

intended only to assist the Client in the Client’s determination of whether to submit payment to the contractor and 
shall not be released to or relied upon by third parties. 

6.8 Insurance: Woolpert shall carry, on all operations hereunder, workers compensation insurance, 
commercial general liability insurance, professional liability insurance, and automobile liability insurance. 

6.9 Assignment/Third Parties: Neither the Client nor Woolpert will assign or transfer its interest in this 
Agreement without the written consent of the other. Woolpert, however, does reserve the right to subcontract any 
portion of the Services. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as creating any rights, benefits, or causes of 
actions for any third party against either Woolpert or the Client. Client recognizes that the Woolpert relies upon 
data, performance criteria/specifications and the recommendations of third party vendors’ with respect to 
products, equipment and/or systems that are specified in a design, utilized in a process or otherwise approved by 
Woolpert in the course of a project.  Client agrees that Woolpert will not be financially responsible for the failure of 
such products, equipment and/or systems. 

6.10 Suspension, Termination, Cancellation, or Abandonment: In the event any Project identified in a Task 
Order to this Agreement is suspended, canceled, or abandoned by the Client thereby suspending, delaying, or 
terminating the services called for therein, Woolpert shall be given 15 days prior written notice of such action. If the 
Client delays or suspends Woolpert’s services for more than 60 cumulative days on a specific Project, then Woolpert 
may terminate this Agreement, with respect to that Project, upon giving seven days written notice. Either party may 
terminate this Agreement upon the other’s filing for bankruptcy, insolvency, or assignment for the benefit of 
creditors. Except as provided otherwise in Paragraph 6.2, either party may terminate this Agreement for cause upon 
30 days written notice of a substantial failure by the other party to perform in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement through no fault of the terminating party. The party receiving such termination notice shall have the 
right to correct its failure within seven days of receiving said notice, or if it cannot reasonably cure the default 
within seven days, proceeds diligently to cure and does cure within the 30-day notice period. Woolpert may also 
terminate this Agreement as provided in Paragraph 6.22. Upon suspension, termination, cancellation, or 
abandonment, Woolpert shall be compensated for the Services provided and reimbursable expenses incurred up to 
the date of suspension, termination, cancellation, or abandonment including necessary and reasonable costs 
incurred thereafter. Notwithstanding termination, the parties agree that those terms and provisions which by the 
very nature should logically survive termination shall survive termination of this Agreement unless otherwise agreed 
in writing.   

6.11 Disputes: If a dispute between the parties arises out of or relates to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, 
then the parties agree to make a good faith effort to settle the issue through direct discussion between the parties 
prior to having recourse to a judicial forum. It is further agreed that the parties each waive their right to indirect, 
special, incidental, consequential, or punitive damages. In the event of any litigation, the prevailing party shall be 
entitled to recover reasonable attorneys’ fees in proportion to the judgment. The Client agrees that Woolpert’s 
officers, partners, agents, and employees will have no personal liability for any damages arising out of or relating to 
this Agreement. 

6.12 Standard of Care: Woolpert agrees to perform services in a manner consistent with that degree of care 
and skill ordinarily exercised by members of the same profession currently practicing under similar circumstances. 
Woolpert makes no other warranties, express or implied, under this Agreement or otherwise, in connection with 
these Professional Services. 

6.13 Waiver: Any failure by Woolpert to require strict compliance with any provision of this Agreement shall not 
be construed as a waiver of such provision, and Woolpert may subsequently require strict compliance at any time, 
notwithstanding any prior failure to do so. 

6.14 Relationship: Woolpert is an independent contractor to the Client in performing its Services under this 
Agreement and is not an employee, agent, joint-venturer, or partner of the Client. 



 

Woolpert Master Professional Service Agreement  
January 29, 2016 Hamilton County, Tennessee 5MPSA-09/14 

6.15 Client Responsibilities: The Client shall provide Woolpert all pertinent data, criteria, and information 
including but not limited to design objectives and constraints, space and use requirements, operational information, 
budgetary limits, flexibility and expandability requirements, and any other available project data such as sketches, 
reports, prior designs, soil tests, surveys, and plans. Woolpert shall be entitled to rely on any and all information 
provided pursuant to this provision. The Client shall review Woolpert’s work thoroughly and promptly, provide 
direction as necessary, and, if the Client at any time becomes aware of any defect, the Client shall, within 14 days 
thereafter, give written notice to Woolpert describing the defect and providing any costs associated with such 
defect. The Client waives any right to set-off or recovery of costs associated with any defective work or service 
unless the Client strictly complies with this provision and provides written notice as required herein. The Client shall 
provide access to the Project(s) site. The Client shall be responsible for payment of any governmental or other 
similar fees associated with permits or plan review. 

6.16 Severability: Any provision of this Agreement later held to be unenforceable for any reason shall be 
deemed void, and all remaining provisions shall continue in full force and effect. Notwithstanding, in the event that 
any provision is found to be void or unenforceable, the parties agree that the provision shall be deemed to be 
restated to reflect as nearly as possible the original intentions of the parties in accordance with applicable law. 

6.17 Ownership/Reuse of Documents: All software, routines, plans, drawings, specifications, and other 
documentation (including electronic files or documents) (hereinafter collectively “documents”) prepared or 
furnished by Woolpert pursuant to this Agreement are instruments of service, and Woolpert shall retain all 
ownership and property interests therein whether or not the Project(s) is completed. Subject to timely payment of 
all amounts due Woolpert under this Agreement, the Client may make and retain copies for information and 
reference in connection with the use and occupancy of the Project by the Client. The documents are not intended 
or represented to be suitable for reuse by the Client and any reuse will be at the Client’s sole risk unless Woolpert, 
for compensation to be agreed upon, reviews and adapts such documents. The Client shall indemnify and hold 
Woolpert, its officers, partners, employees, agents, and lower-tier consultants harmless from all claims, damages, 
losses, and expenses including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of defense arising out of or resulting from this 
Paragraph 6.17 or Paragraph 6.18. 

6.18 Electronic/CADD Documents: Woolpert shall not be required to provide or deliver electronic or computer-
aided design and drafting (CADD) files or source code, unless specifically required by the Scope of Services described 
in Section 3 or Attachment A of this Agreement. Any file that is delivered shall be considered a “convenience” to the 
Client and in the case of any discrepancy or difference between electronic files and hard copies of drawings or files, 
hard copies shall control. Due to the easily alterable nature of electronic files, Woolpert makes no warranties, 
either express or implied, with respect to the accuracy, completeness, merchantability, or fitness for any 
particular purpose, including, but not limited to, performance of electronic files in cost estimating, quantity 
calculating, survey layout, or other software used by the Client or any other consultant or contractor. If electronic 
or CADD files are provided or delivered, such files shall be developed based on Woolpert’s standard formatting, 
layering, drafting and design practice, unless specifically directed otherwise by the Client prior to execution of this 
Agreement. The Client shall not make or permit to be made any copies or any modification to electronic media, 
plans, and specifications without the prior written authorization of Woolpert. Woolpert shall not be liable in the 
event that erroneous information is supplied by the Client or a third party, and Woolpert subsequently relies upon 
and incorporates that information into an electronic file, plans, specifications, or other documents. 

6.19 Change Orders/Additional Services: Services resulting from changes in the specific scope, extent, or 
character of the work or in the Client’s needs, including but not limited to changes in size, complexity, or schedule; 
delays or demands by the Client, its agents, or contractors; or revision or rework of previously performed services 
when such services are due to causes beyond the control of Woolpert, shall be considered Additional Services, and 
Woolpert shall be entitled to additional compensation. Unless otherwise agreed, such Additional Services shall be 
performed on a Unit Cost/Hourly Fee basis. Woolpert shall not be obligated to make revisions or perform Additional 
Services until Woolpert’s receipt of a mutually executed writing as set forth in Section 3. 

6.20 Environmental Hazards: Woolpert shall have no responsibility for the discovery, presence, handling, 
removal, transportation, or disposal of or exposure to hazardous, toxic, or similar materials in any form at the 



 

Woolpert Master Professional Service Agreement  
January 29, 2016 Hamilton County, Tennessee 6MPSA-09/14 

Project site. In the event Woolpert’s services as identified in this Agreement include an environmental assessment, 
then the term “discovery” as used in this provision shall not be construed to relieve Woolpert of its contractual 
obligation to, in accordance with the standard of care identified herein, conduct research and/or study to “discover” 
such materials in connection with such services. 

6.21 Permitting: Woolpert shall not be responsible for obtaining project specific permits and licenses; however, 
Woolpert shall provide assistance with applying for certain project specific permits and licenses as may be specified 
in a Task Order. Client acknowledges that there are factors that are not within the control of Woolpert as to 
whether a permit or license will ultimately be approved by a permitting agency and Woolpert does not guarantee, 
represent or warrant the issuance of project specific permits and licenses.  

6.22 Import/Export Matters: Each party agrees that is shall comply with United States import and export 
control and asset control laws, regulations, and orders, as they may be amended from time to time, applicable to the 
export or re-export of goods or services from the United State, including but not limited to software, processes, or 
technical data. Such regulations include without limitation the Export Administration Regulations (“EAR”), 15 C.F.R. 
730-774, the International Traffic in Arms Regulations (“ITAR”), 22 C.F.R. 120 et seq., the Export Administration Act, 
50 U.S.C. app. 2401-2420, and the Export Administration Regulations, 15 C.F.R. 730-774, customs laws, as well as all 
regulations and orders administered by the Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control. The parties 
agree that if Woolpert is prohibited from performing this Agreement as a result of the inability to obtain necessary 
approvals or permits in order to comply with the requirements imposed by such import/export requirements, such 
shall excuse Woolpert from performance under this Agreement and the parties shall terminate this Agreement for 
convenience. 

6.23 Notices: Any notice required hereunder shall be sufficiently given when sent to the signatories hereunder 
or to the above-named contact person via United States certified mail, return receipt requested, or via overnight 
courier with receipt verification to the address set forth herein, or by personally delivering such notice to the party 
to be in receipt thereof. 

6.24 Entirety of Agreement: This Agreement embodies the entire agreement and understanding between the 
parties, their successors, and assigns hereto, and there are no other agreements and understandings, oral or 
written, with reference to the subject matter hereof that are not merged herein and superseded hereby. No 
alteration, change, or modification of the terms of this Agreement shall be valid unless made in writing and signed 
by both parties hereto. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Ohio. Any litigation arising out 
of or related to this Agreement shall be heard in the State courts located in Greene County, Ohio, or if applicable, in 
the United States District for the Southern District of Ohio. Each party hereby agrees that it had appropriate 
opportunity for review by legal counsel and that for purposes of this Agreement, each party is jointly and equally 
responsible for drafting this Agreement and if an ambiguity or question of intent arises with respect to any 
provision of this Agreement, the provision will be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties and no presumption 
or burden of proof will arise favoring or disfavoring either party by virtue of authorship of any of the provisions of 
this Agreement. Headings are for convenience and shall not control or affect the meaning of any provision of this 
Agreement. This Agreement includes this document and, by this reference, incorporates the following as if fully set 
forth herein: 

 Addendum A: Task Order to Master Agreement  



 

Woolpert Master Professional Service Agreement  
January 29, 2016 Hamilton County, Tennessee 7MPSA-09/14 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement, which is subject to the terms and conditions of Sections 1 through 6 and 
Attachment(s), is accepted as of the date first written above. 

Hamilton County, Tennessee  Woolpert, Inc. 

 
 

 

Signed  Signed 

  Jeff S. Lovin, CP, PS 

Printed Name  Printed Name 

  Senior Vice President 

Title  Title 

  January 29, 2016 

Date  Date 

 



 
 
 
 

Woolpert Professional Service Agreement Addendum |Task Order #1  
January 29, 2016 Hamilton County, Tennessee 1MPSA-ADD 09/14 

Addendum A: Task Order to Master Professional 

Service Agreement between Woolpert, Inc. and 

Hamilton County, Tennessee 

Task Order #1 

Section 1. General 
THIS TASK ORDER, made and entered into this  day of    , 2016, by and between Woolpert, Inc., 
whose address is 375 Northridge Road, Suite 300, Atlanta, GA  30350-3296 (hereinafter referred to as “Woolpert”) 
and the “Client” identified herein, provides for Services under the Master Professional Service Agreement dated 
January 29, 2016, such Services described under Section 2 of this Task Order. 

 Client: Hamilton County, Tennessee 

 Project Number:  

 Project Title: Hamilton County Geospatial Services  

 Task Order Title: Countywide 6-inch Orthoimagery 

Section 2. General Description of Project and Project Area 
Aerial Imagery Acquisition. Woolpert will acquire new 4-band digital imagery 
covering the entire ±615 square mile project area of Hamilton County, and a full-tile 
delivery of imagery that extends outside the county. The aerial imagery will be 
acquired at a flying height suitable for producing 1”=100’ scale orthoimagery with a 
0.5-foot pixel. 

The project area consists of full tile deliveries for the entire County as per the 
1”=400’ scale State of Tennessee tile layout schema. 

Section 3. General Description of Professional Services 
Woolpert will perform horizontal and vertical ground control survey and airborne GPS (ABGPS) to support the 
digital orthoimagery production. Woolpert surveyors will use new semi-permanent and photo-identifiable 
horizontal and vertical ground control points, as needed, to support the mapping. At least two ABGPS base stations 
will be used during the aerial acquisition phases of this project. Aerial acquisition will be performed using a Leica 
ADS80 digital sensor with the acquired imagery used to produce a 0.5-foot, 4-band orthoimage (color and CIR).  
Woolpert will utilize newly acquired aerial lidar recently collected for Hamilton County, and flown at USGS QL2 
accuracy standards to process the orthoimagery.  

The digital orthoimagery will be delivered in GeoTIFF format with a .tfw world file for georeferencing. Additional 
deliverables will include a ground survey report and a MrSID compressed countywide mosaic. 

Section 4. Compensation to Be Paid to Woolpert 
Compensation to be paid to Woolpert for providing the requested services shall be a lump sum fee of $86,100.00. 

Reimbursable expenses include direct expenses including but not limited to travel, lodging, meals, telephone and 
fax, copies, shipping/overnight delivery, and prints, times a multiple of 1.10. The compensation to be paid to 
Consultant does not include any sales or service tax that may be required to be imposed. The Client shall be 
responsible for the payment of any such taxes that may be imposed. If the Client fails to execute this Agreement, or 



 

Woolpert Professional Service Agreement Addendum |Task Order #1  
January 29, 2016 Hamilton County, Tennessee 2MPSA-ADD 09/14 

any Task Order within 30 days of the date it is sent to the Client, Woolpert shall have the right to revise fees or 
revoke any proposal related to the services. 

Section 5. Schedule for Services 
Woolpert will commence the above-referenced services upon receipt of a fully executed copy of this Task Order. 
This Task Order shall remain in effect until December 31

st
, 2017 unless terminated as provided in the Master 

Agreement or extended by mutual agreement in writing. 

Assuming that acquisition would occur in late February or early March as depicted below, Woolpert will adhere to 
the following schedule: 

Hamilton County, Tennessee  Orthoimagery 

Feb Mar Apr May Jun July 

2016 Orthoimagery 0.5 foot resolution        

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Task Order which is subject to the terms and conditions of Sections 1 through 4, 
Attachment(s), and the aforementioned Master Agreement, is accepted as of the date first written above. 

Hamilton County, Tennessee  Woolpert, Inc. 

 
 

 

Signed  Signed 

  Jeff S. Lovin, CP, PS 

Printed Name  Printed Name 

  Senior Vice President 

Title  Title 

  January 29, 2016 

Date  Date 

 



No. 216-41 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
February 17, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE PURCHASE OF GASOLINE AND DIESEL FUEL FOR THE 
PERIOD OF JANUARY 1, 2016, THROUGH JANUARY 31, 2016, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE 
COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, the Purchasing Department was authorized to make purchases of petroleum products 

on the open market; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the following purchases were made between January 1, 2016, through January 31, 

2016.  
 
 January 8, 2016, $9,510.76 for 8,516 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.116811 per gallon 

from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  
 
 January 19, 2016, $6,732.15 for 7,032 gallons of diesel fuel at 0.957359 per gallon 

from Parman Lubricants.  
 
 January 19, 2016, $6,730.25 for 7,030 gallons of diesel fuel at 0.957362 per gallon 

from Parman Lubricants.  
 
 January 19, 2016, $8,976.92 for 8,551 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.049809 per gallon 

from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  
  
 January 20, 2016, $8,971.55 for 8,595 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.04381 per gallon 

from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  
 
 January 26, 2016, $952.89 for 691 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 1.3790 per 

gallon from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  
  
 January 26, 2016, $217.50 for 150 gallons of diesel fuel at 1.4500 per gallon from 

Sweetwater Valley Oil Company, Inc.  
  
 January 27, 2016, $7,218.88 for 7,337 gallons of diesel fuel at 0.983901 per gallon 

from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc. 



 

 

 
  January 27, 2016, $8,813.47 for 8,575 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.02781 per gallon 

from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc. 
 
 January 28, 2016, $1,240.27 for 997 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at  1.2440 

per gallon from Collins Oil Company, Inc.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 
That the above purchases be ratified in the best interest of Hamilton County, and the County Mayor is 
authorized to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

February 17, 2016 

  
Date 

 






	2-17-16 Public Agenda
	216-_S_Minutes_Recessed Meeting - January 27, 2016 _2115_01-27-16 Recessed
	216-_S_Minutes_Agenda Session - January 27, 2016 _2116_01-27-16 Agenda
	216-_S_Minutes_Regular Meeting - February 3, 2016 _2117_02-03-16 Regular
	216-_S_Report_Order of Designation Planning Commission - Todd Leamon February 8, 2016_2093_Order of Designation Planning Commission Todd Leamon February 2 2016
	216-_S_Report_Reports Compliance with ThreeStar Program_2104_1317_001
	216-16_R_Bill Knowles_Notary_2118_02-17-16
	216-16_S_Bill Knowles_Notary_2118_02-17-16A
	216-17A_R_Zoning_Zoning_2086_216A
	216-17A_S_Zoning_Zoning_2086_2016-007
	216-17B_R_Zoning_Zoning_2087_216B
	216-17B_S_Zoning_Zoning_2087_2016-007
	216-18_R_Appointment(s)_Appointment of Craig Peavy and reappointment of Randy Metcalf and Ernest Noll Jr to the Hamilton County Contractors Board of Appeals and Adjustments_2106_Construction
	216-18_S_Appointment(s)_Appointment of Craig Peavy and reappointment of Randy Metcalf and Ernest Noll Jr to the Hamilton County Contractors Board of Appeals and Adjustments_2106_Contractors
	216-19_R_Appointment(s)_Reappointment of Ann Badgley to the Hamilton County Health and Safety Hearing Board_2108_Health
	216-19_S_Appointment(s)_Reappointment of Ann Badgley to the Hamilton County Health and Safety Hearing Board_2108_Badgley
	216-20_R_Appointment(s)_Appointment of Donald Lee Norris as Administrator of General Services._2123_Norris Resolution
	216-20_S_Appointment(s)_Appointment of Donald Lee Norris as Administrator of General Services._2123_Norris Resume
	216-21_R_Sheriff Hammond_HCSO Bridge Plan_2099_Bridge Plan Resolution2.3.16
	216-22_R_Commissioner Fields_Appropriation for Town of Signal Mountain_2088_Comm Fields SM Ballfields
	216-23_R_Commissioner Bankston_Appropriation for Partnership for Families Children and Adults Inc_2094_Comm Bankston Part Families Children
	216-23_S_Commissioner Bankston_Appropriation for Partnership for Families Children and Adults Inc_2094_1238_001
	216-24_R_Commissioner Turner-Smedley_Appropriation for Partnership for Families Children and Adults Inc_2112_Comm Smedley Partnership
	216-24_S_Commissioner Turner-Smedley_Appropriation for Partnership for Families Children and Adults Inc_2112_1238_001
	216-25_R_Commissioner Boyd_Appropriation for Want To Foundation Inc_2114_Comm Boyd Want To
	216-25_S_Commissioner Boyd_Appropriation for Want To Foundation Inc_2114_1321_001
	216-26_R_Commissioner Beck_Appropriation for an audio and speaker system for Brainerd High School gymnasium_2095_Comm Beck Brainerd HS
	216-27_R_Commissioner Beck_Appropriation for A Better Tomorrow_2097_Comm Beck A Better Tomorrow
	216-27_S_Commissioner Beck_Appropriation for A Better Tomorrow_2097_1302_001
	216-28_R_Commissioner Beck_Appropriation for Mary Walker Historical and Educational Foundation Inc_2098_Comm Beck Mary Walker2
	216-28_S_Commissioner Beck_Appropriation for Mary Walker Historical and Educational Foundation Inc_2098_1303_001
	216-29_R_Todd Leamon_Tractor with Boom Mower_2107_RES. TRACTOR WITH BOOM MOWER
	216-29_S_Todd Leamon_Tractor with Boom Mower_2107_Tractor with Boom Mower
	216-30_R_Dan Saieed_FastTrack Economic Development Fund Grant for Yanfeng USA_2096_Yanfeng - FastTrack Economic Development Grant Application
	216-31_R_Dan Saieed_FastTrack Economic Development Grant application for West Star Aviation Inc_2102_West Star Aviation FastTrack EDF
	216-32_R_Dan Saieed_Property lease to Medal of Honor Museum_2110_Resolution 216
	216-32_S_Dan Saieed_Property lease to Medal of Honor Museum_2110_Res.  Coolidge Park--attachments
	216-33_R_Albert Kiser_Audio Visual Equipment_2111_RES. AUDIO VISUAL EQUIPMENT
	216-33_S_Albert Kiser_Audio Visual Equipment_2111_Audio Visual Equipment
	216-34_R_Albert Kiser_Professional Service for Computer and Software Consulting_2121_RES. PROFESSIONAL SERVICE FOR AUDIO VISUAL EQUIP AT SESSIONS
	216-34_S_Albert Kiser_Professional Service for Computer and Software Consulting_2121_sessions court av_20160208125505
	216-35_R_Sheriff Hammond_Prisoner Tray Transport Server Cabinets_2105_RES. PRISONER TRAY TRANSPORT SERVER CABINETS
	216-35_S_Sheriff Hammond_Prisoner Tray Transport Server Cabinets_2105_Prisoner Tray Transport Server Cabinets
	216-36_R_Sheriff Hammond_Police Motorcycle_2109_RES. POLICE MOTORCYCLE
	216-36_S_Sheriff Hammond_Police Motorcycle_2109_Police Motorcycle
	216-37_R_Becky Barnes_Flu Vaccine Resolution_2092_2016 Flu Vaccine Resolution CERP
	216-38_R_Becky Barnes_Personalized Park Benches_2103_RES. PERSONALIZED PARK BENCHES
	216-38_S_Becky Barnes_Personalized Park Benches_2103_Personalized Park Benches
	216-39_R_Todd Leamon_Micro Sealing and Resurfacing Services_2101_RES. MICRO SEALING & RESURFACING ROADS
	216-39_S_Todd Leamon_Micro Sealing and Resurfacing Services_2101_Micro Sealing & Resurfacing Services
	216-40_R_Albert Kiser_Orthophotography_2100_GIS Resolution
	216-40_S_Albert Kiser_Orthophotography_2100_Master PSA_HamiltonCounty_29Jan16
	216-41_R_Albert Kiser_Fuel January 2016_2113_Fuel Resolution January 2016
	216-41_S_Albert Kiser_Fuel January 2016_2113_January 2016 docs

